### University of Massachusetts Medical School eScholarship@UMMS

**GSBS** Dissertations and Theses

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

2011-05-11

### Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 (IRS-2): A Novel Hypoxia-Responsive Gene in Breast Cancer: A Dissertation

Katerina Mardilovich University of Massachusetts Medical School

### Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Follow this and additional works at: https://escholarship.umassmed.edu/gsbs\_diss

Part of the Amino Acids, Peptides, and Proteins Commons, Biochemical Phenomena, Metabolism, and Nutrition Commons, Cancer Biology Commons, Cells Commons, Hormones, Hormone Substitutes, and Hormone Antagonists Commons, Neoplasms Commons, Pathological Conditions, Signs and Symptoms Commons, and the Skin and Connective Tissue Diseases Commons

### **Repository Citation**

Mardilovich K. (2011). Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 (IRS-2): A Novel Hypoxia-Responsive Gene in Breast Cancer: A Dissertation. GSBS Dissertations and Theses. https://doi.org/10.13028/3w9g-7v51. Retrieved from https://escholarship.umassmed.edu/gsbs\_diss/533

This material is brought to you by eScholarship@UMMS. It has been accepted for inclusion in GSBS Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of eScholarship@UMMS. For more information, please contact Lisa.Palmer@umassmed.edu.

### INSULIN RECEPTOR SUBSTRATE-2 (IRS-2): A NOVEL HYPOXIA-RESPONSIVE GENE IN BREAST CANCER

A Dissertation Presented

By

### KATERINA MARDILOVICH

Submitted to the Faculty of the

University of Massachusetts Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Worcester

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

MAY 11, 2011

CANCER BIOLOGY

## INSULIN RECEPTOR SUBSTRATE-2 (IRS-2): A NOVEL HYPOXIA-RESPONSIVE GENE IN BREAST CANCER

### Signature page

A Dissertation Presented By

#### KATERINA MARDILOVICH

The signatures of the Dissertation Defense Committee signifies completion and approval as to style and content of the Dissertation

Leslie M. Shaw, Ph.D., Thesis Advisor

Brian Lewis, Ph.D., Member of Committee

Stephen Lyle, M.D., Ph.D., Member of Committee

Merav Socolovsky, PhD, Member of Committee

Andrew Kung, M.D., PhD, Member of Committee

The signature of the Chair of the Committee signifies that the written dissertation meets the requirements of the Dissertation Committee

Arthur Mercurio, Ph.D., Chair of Committee

The signature of the Dean of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences signifies that the student has met all graduation requirements of the school.

Anthony Carruthers, Ph.D., Dean of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

Cancer Biology Program

May, 11 2011

### Dedication

I'd like to dedicate this work to my mom, Galina Mardilovich, who was diagnosed with metastatic breast cancer at the age of 45 and passed away at 51, two weeks before my qualifying exam. She taught me determination and stamina that I needed so much during school. Her strength, courage, endless optimism and incredible love of life will always be my inspiration.

### Acknowledgements

I'd like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my mentor, Dr. Leslie Shaw for the guidance and support she has provided me throughout my entire Ph.D. training process. She has given me a complete freedom to move where the science takes me and guided me patiently through my project. She has been a constant source of not only help and advice, but also encouragement and optimism that helped me through my work. The phrase "the glass is half full" will always remind me of her. I wouldn't be a strong and confident scientist without her encouragement and unlimited help and support.

I thankfully acknowledge the contributions of my Thesis Research Advisory Committee members, Dr. Arthur Mercurio (chair), Dr. Brian Lewis, Dr. Stephen Lyle, Dr. Merav Socolovsky, Cancer Biology Department, UMassMed for their guidance though my project. Dr. Andrew Kung, Harvard Medical School, my external examiner also has my thankfulness for his invaluable suggestions and comments.

I am especially grateful to my current and previous lab members, Maura Byrne, Dr. Shannon Pankratz, Jenny Janusis, Xiaoqing Yang, Justine Landis, Jen Clark, Rasika Rohatgi, and Dr. Anuradha Seshadri for their outstanding scientific advise, kind support, and a warm, friendly environment, filled with lots of candy and laughter. And a special thanks to Yumiko Fine for invaluable moral support through my toughest days and excellent Flamenco lessons, and Dushani Palliyaguru, my undergrad student for achieving so much and making me a proud mentor. It has been a real pleasure to work with you all.

I'd like to thank my amazing friends from UMass, Minakshi Guha, Jenny Xie, Dimitra Efthymiadis, Ermelinda Porpiglia, Dushani Palliyaguru, Swarna Mehrotra, and Ling Lin, who have been with me through the whole experience, for their unconditional support, understanding of the graduate student hardships, and also lunches, shopping and endless coffee breaks – everything that made it a fun and joyful time. This experience wouldn't have been the same without you! Also, my friends Julia and Alex Krasheninin, Natasha and Eugene Sharov, who have become my second family, for believing in me, supporting me, and for making this place my second home.

And finally, I am eternally grateful to my family, my parents, Ivan and Galina Mardilovich and my sister, Anastasia, for their tremendous moral support and unconditional love that has given me the strength to always move forward. I wouldn't have been here without you!

#### Abstract

Breast cancer is the most common malignancy among women in the U.S. While many successful treatments exist for primary breast cancer, very few are available for patients with metastatic disease. The purpose of this study was to understand the role of Insulin Receptor Subtrate-2 (IRS-2) in breast cancer metastasis. IRS-2 belongs to the IRS family of cytoplasmic adaptor proteins that mediate signaling from cell surface receptors, many of which have been implicated in cancer. Although the IRS proteins are highly homologous in structure and have some complementary functions, growing evidence supports that the IRS proteins have unique roles in cancer. IRS-1 has been shown to promote tumor cell proliferation, while IRS-2 has been positively associated with cancer cell invasion, glycolysis and tumor metastasis. In the current work, we identified IRS-2 as a novel hypoxia-responsive gene in breast carcinoma cells. In contrast, IRS-1 expression does not increase in response to hypoxia, supporting the notion of their non-overlapping functions. Hypoxia promotes the adaptation and resistance of cancer cells to chemo- and radiation therapy, and also promotes tumor cell survival, invasion and metastasis by selecting for aggressive tumor cells that can survive under stressful low oxygen conditions. We have shown that IRS-2 upregulation in response to hypoxia promotes Akt signaling and tumor cell viability and invasion. We identified a cell context-dependent role for Hypoxia Inducible Factor (HIF) in the regulation of IRS-2 expression in hypoxia, with HIF-2 playing a more dominant role than HIF-1. We also demonstrate that binding of Snail, a regulator of the EMT, to the IRS-2 promoter keeps the chromatin in an open conformation that is permissive for HIF-dependent transcription of IRS-2 in hypoxia. IRS-2 is not upregulated by hypoxia in well-differentiated epithelial-like carcinoma cells that do not express Snail, implicating IRS-2 gene expression as part of the EMT programming. In summary, we have identified an endogenous mechanism by which cancer cells can shift the balance of IRS-1 and IRS-2 to favor IRS-2 expression and function, which promotes survival, invasion, and ultimately metastasis. Understanding the mechanism of IRS-2 regulation by hypoxia may reveal new therapeutic targets for metastatic breast cancer.

### **Table of Contents**

Signature page	i
Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	iv
List of Figures	viii
CHAPTER I: Introduction	1
Insulin Receptor Substrate – 2 (IRS-2)	2
IRS-1 and IRS-2 in cancer	5
Regulation of IRS-2 expression	10
Hypoxia and tumor progression	14
Hypoxic regulation of gene expression	17
Rationale for the project	21
Figures	23
CHAPTER II: Hypoxia regulates Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 expression to r	promote
breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion	25
A hstract	26
Introduction	27
Results	30
IRS-2 expression increases in response to hypoxia.	
IRS-2 is competent for signaling in hypoxic environments	
IRS-2 promotes tumor cell viability in hypoxia	
IRS-2 promotes tumor cell invasion in hypoxia.	
Hypoxia regulates IRS-2 transcription	
HIF-1 and HIF-2 are required for the regulation of IRS-2 transcription in response to	hypoxia.
Discussion	
Materials and Methods	42
Figures	45
CHADTED III, Hypovia Inducible Factors (HIEs) according with Spail in the	
CHAFTER III: Hypoxia inducible Factors (HIFS) cooperate with Shan in the	FO
regulation of IRS-2 expression in hypoxia	
ADSTRACT	54 57
Introduction Descrite	
Identification of a hypervise responsive region in the hyper IDS 2 promotor	<b>30</b> 50
Role of HRE elements in human IRS-2 promoter activity	
Analysis of the minimal hypoxia-responsive region in the IDS 2 promotor	
HIEs cooperate with Spail to regulate IPS-2 expression in hypoxia	
Role of HIF-1 and HIF-2 in IRS-2 expression	
Role of Snail-driven EMT in hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 expression	
reste et shutt ditt en Litt in hjponie apregulaton of the 2 expression minimum	

IRS-2 expression associates with Snail and HIF-2 expression	on in metastatic mammary tumors
in vivo	
Discussion	
Materials and Methods	
Figures	80
CHAPTER IV: Discussion	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	

### List of Figures

CHAPTER I	
Figure 1.1. Schematic of the IRS protein family	23
Figure 1.2. Signaling via the IRS proteins	24

### **CHAPTER II**

Figure 2.1. Hypoxia induces IRS-2 expression	45
Figure 2.2. IRS-2 signaling in hypoxia.	46
Figure 2.3. IRS-2 promotes cell survival in hypoxia	47
Figure 2.4. IRS-2 promotes invasion in hypoxia	49
Figure 2.5. IRS-2 protein and mRNA stability are not increased by hypoxia	50
Figure 2.6. Hypoxia regulates IRS-2 transcription	51
Figure 2.7. HIF is required for hypoxic IRS-2 expression	52

### **CHAPTER III**

Figure 3.1. Identification and characterization of hypoxia-responsive region in the	
Human IRS-2 promoter	80
Figure 3.2. HIF-2 cooperates with Snail to regulate the hypoxic IRS-2 expression	82
Figure 3.3. Snail and HIF bind directly to the IRS-2 promoter in hypoxia	84
Figure 3.4. Hypoxic IRS-2 expression in epithelial-like breast carcinoma cell lines	85
Figure 3.5. Role of Snail-induced EMT in hypoxic IRS-2 transcription	86
Figure 3.6. IRS-2 correlates with HIF-2 and Snail expression in PyV-MT mouse	
Mammary tumors	88
-	

**CHAPTER I: Introduction** 

Breast cancer is the most common and the second most deadly malignancy among women in the US [1]. Many successful treatments exist for localized breast cancer. Almost 98 percent of women diagnosed with localized breast cancer have a five-year survival rate. However, only 27 percent of patients diagnosed with metastatic disease reach a 5-year survival [1]. Therefore it is crucial to focus our research on understanding the mechanisms of metastasis in order to develop more effective treatments for aggressive types of breast cancer. Our lab has been focusing on understanding the mechanism of breast cancer metastasis, and particularly the role of the Insulin Receptor Substrate (IRS) proteins in this process using *in vivo* and *in vitro* models. The purpose of this work was to identify novel roles for IRS-2 in breast cancer metastasis.

#### **Insulin Receptor Substrate – 2 (IRS-2)**

IRS-2 belongs to the Insulin Receptor Substrate (IRS) family of cytoplasmic adaptor proteins that includes four members: IRS-1, IRS-2, IRS-3, and IRS-4. The IRS proteins were initially identified as adapter proteins for the insulin receptor (IR) and have been extensively studied in the context of insulin signaling [2]. Later they were found to also function downstream of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R) [3]. In addition, a few studies have identified the IRS proteins to mediate signaling downstream of other receptors, including several cytokine receptors, Growth Hormone (GH), Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF, KDR), and EGF receptor, as well as  $\alpha V\beta$ 3 and  $\alpha \beta\beta$ 4 integrins [4-7]. IRS-1 and IRS-2 are ubiquitously expressed in all tissues in the body and are the most common contributors to regulation of insulin-dependent proliferation, growth

and metabolism [2]. Expression of IRS-4 is restricted to brain, kidney, thymus, and liver and IRS-3 is expressed only in rodents [8, 9].

IRS-1 was the first IRS family member to be characterized as an endogenous substrate of the insulin receptor kinase. It was discovered in an anti-phosphotyrosine immunoblot screening of IR substrates in hepatoma cells after insulin stimulation [10]. IRS-2 was identified as an alternative insulin receptor substrate in *Irs-1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice [11]. It was originally cloned from myeloid progenitor cells and named 4PS. Sequence analysis revealed significant levels of homology with the IRS-1 protein and later IRS-2 was found to be expressed in many cell types and tissues [12]. IRS-2 was also shown to be phosphorylated in response to insulin stimulation and recruit Phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase (PI3K) and Grb2 in liver and muscle cells to support insulin signaling of *Irs-1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice [11].

All IRS proteins share some homology in structure, with about 75% homology in the N-termini, and about 30% homology in the C-termini (Figure1.1). They contain plekstrin homology (PH) and phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domains in their N-termini and multiple tyrosine phosphorylation sites in their C-termini. Upon activation of upstream receptors, IRS proteins are recruited to the receptor at the membrane via the PH domain, which contributes to protein-protein and protein-phospholipid interactions [13-17]. The PH domain is followed by the PTB domain, which interacts with the NPXY motifs in the activated receptors [16, 17]. IRS-2 also contains a unique motif, the kinase regulatory loop-binding (KRLB) domain in its N-terminus. The KRLB domain interacts with the tyrosine kinase domain of the insulin receptor and is thought to function to limit tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-2 [16, 18]. Tyrosine 628 (Tyr628) within the IRS-2 KRLB domain is phosphorylated by the insulin receptor, but the turnover of the phosphorylation is slow and has an inhibitory effect on the receptor kinase activity [19].

IRS proteins do not have intrinsic kinase activity. They act as scaffold proteins to recruit downstream effectors to the receptors thus determining the outcome of the IRSmediated activation of signaling pathways [20]. Upon binding to the upstream receptor, the IRS proteins are phosphorylated on multiple tyrosine residues in their C-termini, generating phosphotyrosine-binding sites that recruit downstream effectors, including the p85 subunit of PI3K, the tyrosine phosphatase SHP2, Grb-2, Fyn, c-Crk, CrkII and Nck (Fig.1.1) [2, 12, 21-27]. The majority of studies performed to understand IRS protein interactions with receptors and downstream effectors have been performed on IRS-1 alone, making the assumption that IRS-1 and IRS-2 behavior is identical based on their homology. Therefore additional studies are needed to characterize IRS-2 specific interactions. A recent study identified additional potential interacting proteins for IRS-1 and IRS-2 by utilizing phosphorylated versus non-phosphorylated bait peptides to analyze all potential phosphotyrosine dependent interaction sites in IRS-1 and IRS-2 [28]. However, these interactions have not yet been confirmed *in vivo* in response to physiological stimuli. Binding of the effector proteins to the tyrosine-phosphorylated IRS protein initiates activation of the downstream signaling cascades resulting in changes in cell metabolic responses, gene expression, translation, survival, and migration (Fig.1.2).

The IRS proteins are homologous in structure and have some complementary functions. However, knockout mouse models provide evidence that they exhibit unique functions in metabolic regulation. *Irs-1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice are born small and never develop diabetes due to an increase in insulin production, implicating Irs-1 in somatic growth regulation

[29]. Mice deficient for Irs-1 develop insulin resistance but do not progress to diabetes because they maintain normal pancreatic beta-cell numbers [29].  $Irs-2^{-/-}$  animals have a normal body size, but small brain and exhibit about 50% decrease in neuronal proliferation [30, 31]. Unlike  $Irs-1^{-/-}$  mice,  $Irs-2^{-/-}$  mice develop type 2 diabetes due to peripheral insulin resistance and beta-cell failure [30].  $Irs-2^{-/-}$  females are also infertile, which together with evidence from insulin-signaling in *Drosophila* and *C. elegans*, supports a conserved mechanism for integrating reproduction and metabolism [32].  $Irs-4^{-/-}$  mice are phenotypically normal, with only mild growth, reproductive and insulin sensitivity defects [33]. Recent evidence suggests that IRS proteins also play unique roles in cancer.

### **IRS-1 and IRS-2 in cancer**

Many of the pathways activated downstream of IRS-signaling have been implicated in tumorigenesis and cancer progression. Therefore, expression and function of IRS-1 and IRS-2 has been analyzed in several cancers, but most extensively in breast cancer. IRS-1 expression is increased in patients with estrogen receptor (ER)-positive breast cancer and is associated with worse disease-free survival prognosis [34]. Another group found a positive correlation between IRS-1 expression and Ki-67 staining in ER-positive tumors and a negative correlation in ER-negative tumors [35]. These combined findings suggest that IRS-1-mediated signaling in breast tumors may contribute to tumor growth. Similar to breast cancer, IRS-1 also seems to have a positive role in ovarian tumor cell growth. Treatment of ovarian carcinoma cells with all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA), which causes growth arrest, decreases IRS-1 levels [36]. The role of IRS-1 in cancer cell proliferation is also supported by *in vitro* studies. Overexpression of IRS-1 in T47D breast carcinoma cells that do not express either IRS-1 or IRS-2 results in increased cell proliferation [37]. Interestingly, overexpression of IRS-2 in the same cells increases cell motility [37]. Similarly, IGF-1-dependent phosphorylation of IRS-1 promoted cell growth and IRS-2 promoted cell motility in malignant pleural mesothelioma cell lines [38]. In addition, IGF-1 has been shown to predominantly induce IRS-2 phosphorylation rather than IRS-1 phosphorylation in human breast cancer cells selected for metastatic behavior *in vivo* [39]. Introduction of an IRS-2 antisense mRNA into these metastatic cells results in decreased IGF1-induced cell motility and anchorage-independent growth [39]. Therefore while IRS-1 has been linked with regulation of tumor cell proliferation, IRS-2 has been connected with tumor cell motility and invasion.

In some cancer types, IRS-1 expression has been reported to correlate negatively with tumor progression. Specifically, IRS-1 expression was found to be high in well-differentiated breast tumors and decrease in poorly differentiated tumors [40]. It was found to negatively correlate with tumor grade and lymph node involvement in ductal carcinoma [41]. Similar to breast cancer, IRS-1 expression is lost in 43% of human samples of stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). However the loss of IRS-1 did not correlate with disease-free survival, indicating that it was an early stage event in NSCLC [42]. Based on the different roles of IRS-1 and IRS-2 in cancer progression, these results suggest that in certain cancer types, the switch from IRS-1 to IRS-2 signaling becomes a determining factor in tumor progression, rather than simply the levels of expression of either one. Therefore careful analysis of expression of both IRS-1 and IRS-2 is necessary to create a full picture of the role each IRS protein in tumor progression.

In vivo mouse models also support that IRS-1 and IRS-2 play unique roles in tumor development and progression. Work from our own lab using the Polyoma Middle T (PyV-MT) mouse model of mammary tumor progression, where the PyV-MT oncogene is expressed under control of the mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) promoter, restricting it to the mammary gland epithelium, has revealed that IRS-1 and IRS-2 have independent non-overlapping roles in breast cancer. *PyV-MT:Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup>* tumors are significantly impaired in their ability to metastasize, whereas *PyV-MT:Irs-1<sup>-/-</sup>* tumors that have increased levels of Irs-2 expression and tyrosine-phosphorylation, have a higher rate of metastasis than their wild-type counterparts [43, 44]. Another group using the *PTEN<sup>+/-</sup>* mouse model of prostate and endometrial cancer has confirmed our *in vivo* results. Specifically, deletion of Irs-2 in this model has no impact on tumor initiation, but significantly suppresses tumor invasion [45]. Therefore, a positive regulation of invasion may be one of the mechanisms by which IRS-2 promotes tumor progression and metastasis.

Another possible mechanism by which IRS-2 can promote tumor progression is by positively regulating glycolysis. The switch to glycolysis from aerobic phosphorylation in tumor cells has been previously shown to correlate with more metastatic potential [46]. Our lab has shown that IRS-2 regulates the localization of glucose transporter-1 (GLUT-1) to the cell surface to promote glycolysis [47]. PyV-MT:Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup> tumor cell lines have significantly lower rates of aerobic glycolysis than PyV-MT wild-type and Irs-1<sup>-/-</sup> cell lines. Expression of exogenous Irs-2 in Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup> cells restores glycolysis to the wild-type cell levels. Importantly, suppression of Glut-1 expression decreases Irs-2-dependent invasion in PyV-MT mouse mammary tumor cells. Therefore, IRS-2 may contribute to breast cancer metastasis by positive regulation of aerobic glycolysis. IRS-2 has also been shown to be important for tumor cell survival, which may also contribute to its role in promoting tumor progression. *PyV-MT:Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup>* mammary tumors exhibit significantly more apoptosis than wild-type or *Irs-1<sup>-/-</sup>* tumors [48]. Moreover, PyV-MT:Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup> tumor cell lines are significantly more sensitive to serum starvation-induced cell death than wild-type or Irs-1<sup>-/-</sup> cells [48]. Down-regulation of IRS-2 expression in human hepatoma Hep3B cells that express high levels of this protein has also been shown to increase apoptosis levels in these cells [49].

Transgenic Irs-1 and Irs-2 overexpression mouse models provide evidence that both IRS-1 and IRS-2 have oncogenic potential. Overexpression of either Irs-1 or Irs-2 protein alone in the mammary gland is sufficient to drive tumor formation in mice. However, no differences in tumor metastasis were observed in this study [50]. This finding contradicts the previously accepted notion of different roles of IRS-1 and IRS-2 in breast cancer progression. However, it is possible that when overexpressed, IRS-1 and -2 can gain functions that are absent at normal physiological expression levels.

Little is known about the function of the IRS proteins in other types of cancer. Only a few studies have analyzed expression levels of the IRS proteins in different types of tumor samples in correlation with tumor progression and outcomes. In general, IRS protein levels have been found to be elevated in tumor samples, compared to normal tissue. For example, one study found expression of IRS-1, -2, and -4 elevated at mRNA and protein levels in 80% of analyzed human hepatocellular carcinoma samples [51]. IRS-1 protein levels were also found to be increased in medulloblastoma, pancreatic and ovarian carcinoma [36, 52, 53]. A study of 54 primary prostate tissue samples found a trend towards increased IRS-1 expression in malignant biopsies compared to normal tissue [54]. Increased IRS-1 levels in medulloblastoma were associated with high levels activation of the downstream pathway, Erk-1, Erk-2, and Akt [53]. To date, the only study to examine IRS-4 expression in human cancer reported increased expression of IRS-4 in hepatocellular carcinoma [55].

Overall IRS-2 expression has also been found to be elevated in several types of cancer. IRS-2 expression was found increased in two different murine models of hepatocellular carcinoma. Its expression increased with tumor progression, with lower levels in preneoplastic lesions and higher levels in tumoral nodules [56]. IRS-2 expression was also elevated in human hepatocellular carcinoma specimens and in human hepatoma cell lines at both protein and mRNA levels [56]. Human pancreatic cancer cell lines also show elevated IRS-2 mRNA and protein levels. Treatment of pancreatic carcinoma cell lines with IGF-1 has a mitogenic effect associated with IRS-2 phosphorylation and association with PI3K. Inhibition of PI3K attenuates the effect of IGF-1, suggesting that IRS-2 may contribute to mitogenic signaling via the PI3K pathway in pancreatic cancer [57]. The function of the IRS protein in cell signaling depends on the cell type. It seems that the role of IRS-1 and IRS-2 is not uniform in all types of cancer, however the trend exists that both proteins my lead to tumor growth and progression through different mechanisms.

One caveat to all of the expression studies, however, is that the IRS proteins can be phosphorylated on serine residues through negative feedback loops, which inhibits their function [58]. Therefore, expression of the IRS proteins alone may not reflect the functional status of these adaptor proteins. We have previously observed a positive correlation between increased Irs-1 serine phosphorylation and metastasis in our PyV-MT mouse mammary tumor model [59]. Additional studies are needed to establish the expression and function of the IRS proteins in human cancer and to determine if their relative expression levels have prognostic or predictive value.

#### **Regulation of IRS-2 expression**

Since the IRS proteins are phosphorylated in order to perform their signaling functions, their activity is heavily regulated at post-translational levels. Prolonged stimulation with IGF-1 or insulin and sustained activation of downstream pathways leads to activation of the negative feedback loop mediated by mTOR [60-65]. P70S6-kinase phosphorylates the IRS proteins on serine/threonine (Ser/Thr) residues leading to decreased IRS tyrosine phosphorylation, ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation [58, 66-68]. Phosphorylation on Ser/Thr residues in close vicinity to the PTB domain may also prevent IRS protein binding to upstream receptors [62, 69]. Similarly, phosphorylation of Ser residues near the PI3K-binding motif can inhibit binding of the p85 subunit of PI3K to the IRS proteins [70]. The majority of the studies examining the effect of negative feedback loops on IRS activity and phosphorylation were performed using IRS-1. In contrast, little is known on the specific effect of the negative regulation of IRS-2. Therefore, the unique functions of IRS-1 and IRS-2 in tumor progression may be due to different sensitivity to negative feedback regulation resulting in different strength and duration of the downstream signaling pathways [71-73].

There is very little information about the regulation of IRS-2 expression at the transcriptional level in cancer. As mentioned above,  $Irs-1^{-/-}$  tumors have increased Irs-2

expression and phosphorylation. The fact that IRS-2 expression increases to compensate for the decrease in IRS-1 levels, altering downstream signaling, suggests that the outcome of IRS signaling lies in the balance between IRS-1 and IRS-2 expression levels. Shifting the balance towards higher expression of IRS-2, which promotes tumor invasion and metastasis, may be a crucial step in promoting tumor progression. Therefore it is important to understand the regulation of IRS-2 expression. Several studies have revealed that despite similar structure and some promoter homology, IRS-1 and IRS-2 gene expression is regulated by independent mechanisms and in response to different stimuli [74, 75]. Since IRS proteins were first discovered as insulin signaling intermediates, their expression was best studied in the context of insulin signaling in normal cells and in diabetes.

In normal hepatocytes, insulin downregulates IRS-2 expression through the PI3K/Akt pathway by regulating binding of the Forkhead box (FOXO) transcription factors to the insulin response element (IRE) sequences in the IRS-2 promoter to maintain signaling balance [76, 77]. Therefore, the negative regulation of IRS signaling occurs at both post-translational and transcriptional levels, in order to effectively prevent over-activation of the pathway. On the other hand, glucose has been shown to positively regulate IRS-2 expression, but not IRS-1 expression in pancreatic beta-cells. Glucose treatment not only induces IRS-2 transcription but also IRS-2 phosphorylation, therefore increasing its signaling efficiency [78]. Thus, IRS-2 expression is effectively regulated through positive and negative mechanisms with a quick response to changes in glucose and insulin homeostasis.

Adjacent to the IRE site in the IRS-2 promoter, an E-box element has been shown to be involved in the regulation of IRS-2 expression by Transcription Factor E3 (TFE3) and Transcription Factor EB (TFEB) in normal liver cells in mice [79]. E-boxes, often found in promoters of genes involved in metabolism, are consensus *cis*-elements for the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) family of transcription factors, including Microphthalmia family of transcription factor, which includes TFE3 and TFEB. The same group identified a positive role for FOXO in regulating IRS-2 transcription, indicating a dual role for FOXO transcription factors in mediating insulin signaling. To counteract the positive action of FOXO and TFE3/B at the IRS-2 promoter, Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Protein (SREBP) factors have been shown to negatively regulate IRS-2 transcription by competing with FOXO and TFE3 factors for binding to the E-box/IRE region in the IRS-2 promoter in mouse hepatocytes *in vivo* [80].

IRS-2 gene expression is also tightly regulated in cancer cells through multiple independent mechanisms. Hormone regulation of gene expression often occurs in cancer cells. IRS-1 and IRS-2 expression are modulated in response to different hormonal stimulation. IRS-1 has been found to be an oestrogen-responsive gene [81]. In contrast to IRS-1 expression, IRS-2 transcription can be directly regulated by progesterone in progesterone receptor (PR)-positive breast cancer cells [81, 82]. Both progesterone and IGF-1 signaling pathways play a crucial role in breast cancer progression. Progestin stimulation before IGF-1 treatment of breast cancer cells results in increased IRS-2 levels and phosphorylation and binding to downstream proteins such as PI3K and Grb-2 leading to enhanced IRS-2-dependent signaling [83].

Other growth factors have also been found to affect IRS-1 and IRS-2 expression. Both fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) can modulate IRS-1 expression in the MCF7 breast cancer cell line [84]. EGF has also been found to induce IRS-2 expression in SUM159 breast carcinoma cells via activation of JNK signaling and increased cFos expression [85]. However, this effect is not common to all growth factors. Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) cannot change IRS expression, indicating that certain growth factors specifically regulate IRS-1 or IRS-2 expression [84].

Some tumor suppressors and oncogenes have been shown to regulate expression of the IRS proteins. Expression of the tumor suppressor BRCA1 negatively regulates IRS-1 expression through epigenetic changes of histones [86]. Steroid Receptor Coactivator (SRC)-3 (also known as Amplified in breast cancer 1 or AIB1) can induce IRS-1 and IRS-2 expression. AIB1 is an oncogene often overexpressed in human tumors and known to induce growth of hormone-insensitive cancer cells. AIB1 has been shown to directly affect IRS-1 transcription by cooperating with the activator protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factor [87, 88].

IRS-2 expression is also the target of PTEN signaling [89]. PTEN is a potent tumor suppressor that antagonizes PI3K signaling by dephosphorylating PtdIns-3,4,5-P3. Both overexpression of PTEN and inhibitors of PI3K signaling not only increase IRS-2 levels but also increase its association with the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K subunit, in MDA-MB-468 human breast carcinoma cells, therefore allowing more intense activation of PI3K signaling [90]. As a negative regulator of IRS-2 expression, PTEN sustains a baseline of activation of signaling pathways [89].

Recently, IRS-2 expression has also been shown to be regulated by micro RNAs (miR). Ectopic expression of tumor suppressor micro RNA-153 (miR-153) results in decreased Akt activation due to decreased IRS-2 expression in glioblastome cells [91]. Induction of miR-153 expression at endogenous levels by treatment with chromatin-

modifying drugs also results in suppression of IRS-2, Bcl-2, and Mcl-1 expression. Growing evidence suggests a complex regulation of IRS-2 expression at both transcriptional and post-translational levels to mediate IRS-2-dependent signaling in normal and malignant cells. Combined effects of external stimuli and cell signaling determines the outcome of overall IRS-2 expression.

#### Hypoxia and tumor progression

Rapidly growing tumors often exhibit areas of low oxygen content, or hypoxia. Oxygen concentration in normal tissues can vary from 20 percent atmospheric oxygen in the lungs to about 5 percent oxygen in other organs [92]. The concentration of oxygen in tumors has been found to be overall lower than in adjacent tissues. It decreases gradually from the outer edge towards the center of the tumor, where it can be as low as 0.3-0.5 per cent [92]. However, the distribution of oxygen in the tumor often depends on tumor vascularization and on the proximity of major blood vessels to the tumor [92]. Hypoxic, or oxygen-deprived, areas often appear in tumors that outgrow the rate of blood vessel formation, and is often associated with necrosis due to oxygen and nutrient deficiency. Most solid tumors greater than 1mm<sup>3</sup> in size exhibit a regional hypoxic environment due to slow growth of blood vessels [93]. Normal cells do not survive under such conditions, but cancer cells often develop resistance to hypoxia, leading to increased invasiveness, survival and metastatic potential [94, 95].

The above changes occur as a result of altered gene expression in response to decreased oxygen concentration in the tumor microenvironment. Overall gene expression

is shut down in response to hypoxia through mTOR downregulation to sustain cell viability and only expression of genes that are important for adaptation and survival in hypoxia is upregulated [96, 97]. Genes that are increased by hypoxia regulate survival, DNA damage responses, invasion, metabolic changes and tumor angiogenesis [97-100]. Among survival genes that are upregulated by hypoxia are Bcl2, PDK-1 and -3, and also the heat-shock family member HSP70, which also has been implicated in tumor cell growth [101-104]. An essential group of genes that are upregulated by hypoxia are metabolic pathway genes. These include glucose transporter-1 (GLUT-1), aldolase A (ALDOA), phosphoglycerate kinase 1 (PGK1), and lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA). Increased expression of these genes leads to cell adaptation to low oxygen conditions thorough shifting cellular metabolism from oxidative phosphorylation to oxygen-independent anaerobic glycolysis for ATP production [97-100, 105, 106]. This process results in the increased production of lactic acid, a byproduct of glycolysis, which in turn alters the pH homeostasis of the tumor microenvironment. Many carcinomas have an increased concentration of lactic acid, which is also associated with increased risk of metastasis [107]. Low pH levels in the tumor can indirectly increase the metastasis rate by promoting degradation of the basal membrane and adjacent connective tissue to facilitate tumor cell dissemination. A highly acidic tumor microenvironment also creates an additional selective pressure for tumor cell survival, creating a new population of highly aggressive cells that are resistant to low oxygen and nutrient conditions, and low pH environment. Tumor hypoxia can also directly induce tumor cell invasion and motility. It has been shown to induce tumor metastasis by increasing tumor cell motility in both MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cell lines [108-110].

Prolonged hypoxia-induced oxidative stress also results in tumor cell resistance to radiation and chemo therapy [111, 112]. Hypoxia has been shown to upregulate not only anti-apoptotic genes but also drug transporter proteins such as MDR1 that lowers the concentrations of cytotoxic drugs in the cells [113]. Upregulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-3 (PDK-3) by hypoxia has also been shown to increase drug resistance in Hela cells [101].

Another crucial effect of hypoxia on tumor progression is promoting epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) in cancer cells. EMT is a process by which epithelial cells lose their polarity and are converted to a mesenchymal phenotype. It is considered a critical event in morphogenetic changes during embryonic development, wound healing, and cancer metastasis. Cells undergoing EMT have a less differentiated morphology, lose expression of epithelial markers (E-cadherin, cytokeratin) and express mesenchymal markers (vimentin), and become more motile. The presence of cells with these features within a tumor is often associated with increased metastasis, drug resistance and poor prognosis [114, 115].

Hypoxia has been shown to induce EMT directly within 72 hours in several epithelial-like cancer cell lines, including HepG2 hepatoma, PANC-1 pancreatic carcinoma, HT-29 colon cancer, and MCF-7 breast carcinoma cell lines [116]. The early EMT switch in hypoxia was found to be dependent on increased levels of reactive oxygen species [116]. Tumor hypoxia has been shown to promote EMT through several mechanisms. For example, the E-cadherin transcriptional repressor TWIST is positively regulated by hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) transcription factor [115]. Notch has been shown to positively regulate expression and stability of the transcription factor Snail,

another EMT regulator, in hypoxia [117]. HIF-1 has also been shown to directly regulate Snail expression in mouse cells [118]. ERbeta has also been shown to maintain epithelial phenotype in prostate cancer via inhibition of HIF-1-dependent VEGF expression, therefore inhibiting VEGF-A receptor neuropilin-1 signaling leading to exclusion of Snail from the nucleus [119].

The importance of the tumor microenvironment, and hypoxia in particular, for tumor metastasis is highlighted in several studies that investigated the effect of antiangiogenic treatment on tumor progression. Short-term treatment with single antiangiogenic agent was shown to have a profound effect on tumor growth and size. However, the tumor shrinkage caused by the treatment resulted in severe hypoxia inside the tumor due to a disrupted vasculature. This led to acquired resistance of tumor cells to hypoxia and subsequent tumor outgrowth. Most importantly, treated tumors showed a significantly higher rate of local invasion, distant metastasis, and decreased overall survival than tumors in untreated animals [120, 121]. Two independent groups have obtained identical results with different anti-angiogenesis treatments in different mouse models of pancreatic cancer, glioblastoma and melanoma tumor progression. Therefore it is crucial to understand the effect of hypoxia on carcinoma cell behavior and regulation of hypoxic gene expression.

### Hypoxic regulation of gene expression

The expression of the majority of hypoxia-responsive genes is regulated by a family of transcription factors, the Hypoxia Inducible Factors (HIF). The HIF transcription factors are heterodimers consisting of two basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) Per/Arnt/Sim (PAS) proteins, HIF-alpha and HIF-beta. The beta subunit (aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT)) is expressed constitutively and is independent of the oxygen concentration. The alpha subunit levels are regulated in an oxygen-dependent manner. The alpha subunit exists in three isoforms, HIF-1alpha, HIF-2alpha (EPAS1), and HIF-3alpha (IPAS). HIF-1 and HIF-2 share similar structure and are well characterized. HIF-3alpha exists as multiple splice variants, some of which can inhibit HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha activity in a dominant-negative manner [122]. HIF-3alpha lacks a transactivation domain and acts as a repressor of HIF-1alpha activity by interfering with its ability to bind to HIF-1beta [122].

Both HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha have two transactivation (TAD) domains, one at the N-terminus (NTAD) and one at the C-terminus (CTAD) [123]. Under high oxygen concentrations, HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha are constitutively expressed but rapidly degraded by an oxygen-sensing mechanism. HIF-alpha becomes hydroxylated at one or both of two highly conserved prolyl residues located near NTAD by the members of the prolyl hydroxylase domain (PHD) family of proteins [124-126]. This hydroxylation event creates a binding site for the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumor suppressor protein, which is a component of an ubiquitin ligase complex [124, 127, 128]. HIF-alpha is then ubiquitinated and targeted for proteasomal degradation [129, 130]. The activity of PHD proteins depends entirely on oxygen concentration. At decreased oxygen levels, HIF-alpha can no longer be hydroxylated. It dimerizes with the beta subunit, translocates to the nucleus, and binds to the promoters of genes that contain a hypoxia responsive enhancer element (HRE), with the consensus sequence 5'-(A/G)CGTG-3' [131].

Factor-inhibiting HIF (FIH) can also inhibit HIF-1alpha activity in an oxygendependent manner. It hydroxylates asparaginyl residues in the HIF-1alpha CTAD, preventing recruitment of coactivators p300 and CBP [132, 133]. Unlike PHD proteins, FIH remains active at lower oxygen concentrations and therefore can inhibit HIF transactivation activity under more moderate hypoxic conditions, when PHD proteins are inactive. Other mechanisms can also regulate HIF-alpha stability. For example, inhibition of HSP90 function can promote HIF-1alpha degradation in a VHL-independent manner. Histone deacetylase inhibitors can also promote HIF-1alpha degradation in a VHLindependent manner, which involves increased interaction between HIF-1alpha and HSP70, after the disruption of HSP70/HSP90 signaling mediated by HDAC-6 activity [134, 135].

HIF-1 and HIF-2 share regulation of expression of many hypoxia-responsive genes, but also have unique target genes [136]. For example, HIF-1 has been shown to be the major regulator of expression of glycolytic enzymes [136]. HIF-2 on the other hand has been shown to be a dominant regulator of EPO expression [137, 138]. Their activity also differs under long- and short-term hypoxia. Most of the early hypoxia-responsive genes are regulated either by HIF-1 alone or are a common HIF-1 and HIF-2 target. At later time points, HIF-1 expression and expression of its specific target genes have been shown to decrease, while HIF-2 activity increases [139]. The differences in transcriptional activity between HIF-1 and HIF-2 can also be due to different sensitivity for FIH activity. HIF-2alpha is relatively resistant to FIH1-mediated inhibition, compared to HIF-1alpha [140]. The specificity of HIF-1 and HIF-2 in regulating transcription of unique target genes also may result from unique co-activators for each HIF and specific transcription factors that HIF interacts with in regulating gene expression. The transcriptional activity of HIF largely depends on its co-activators, recruitment of which is mediated by the TAD domains. The most common co-activator of HIF is p300/ Creb-binding protein (CBP). Its main function is to stabilize the transcription initiation complex and to recruit histone acetyl-transferase enzymes, such as the redox factor (Ref-1) [141]. Ref-1 has some histone acetyl-transferase activity and has been shown to regulate formation of the hypoxia-inducible transcriptional complex on the VEGF promoter in rat endothelial cells [142]. Several co-activators have been found to be specific for HIF-2alpha. For example, transcription factor Ets1 has been shown to interact exclusively with HIF-2alpha in regulating VEGF receptor 2 (Flk-1) transcription [143]. Another Ets family transcription factor, Elk-1, cooperates with HIF-2alpha to activate expression of CITED-2 in hypoxia in MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cell line [144].

A large number of hypoxia-responsive genes can also be upregulated in a HIFindependent manner. Multiple transcription factors have altered activity through changes in phosphorylation, localization, expression, or dimerization partners in hypoxia. For example, AP1 is upregulated by hypoxia through increased expression of cFos and cJun [145, 146]. VHL has also been implicated in regulating gene expression in hypoxia independent from HIF [147, 148].

Often both mechanisms, HIF-dependent and –independent, are combined to achieve a higher and more prolonged expression of hypoxia-responsive genes. Many of the genes regulated by hypoxia contain enhancer elements for multiple hypoxia-regulated factors. For example, VEGF, a well-known common HIF-1 and HIF-2 target gene, has also been shown to be regulated by Ras in a HIF-independent manner in hypoxia in colon cancer [149]. The role of Ras in hypoxic expression of VEGF was identified when a VEGF promoter construct with a mutated HRE was found to still be upregulated by hypoxia. Overexpression of K-ras had a synergistic effect with hypoxia on VEGF expression. This shows that VEGF expression is regulated by both HIF-dependent and HIF-independent mechanisms. In another example of hypoxic regulation of gene expression by multiple transcription factors, hypoxic endothelin-1 expression in vascular endothelial cells requires AP-1, GATA-2, and NF-1 for HIF-1 binding and subsequent recruitment of p300/CBP to the hypoxia-responsive complex at the promoter [150]. In addition, transcription factors (FOXO) modulate HIF expression and activity in a cooperative regulation of hypoxic gene expression [151, 152]. AP-1 coactivator Jab1 (Jun activation domain-binding protein-1) can interact with HIF-1alpha and increase its stability [153]. Therefore, all hypoxia-responsive transcription factors work in a coordinated manner to tightly regulate gene expression in response to environmental stimuli.

### **Rationale for the project**

Hypoxia is known to be a potent effector of tumor progression. It increases tumor cell metastatic potential by altering cellular metabolism from oxidative phosphorylation to anaerobic glycolysis. Moreover, cyclic hypoxia results in a permanent switch to glycolysis even in the presence of oxygen, or aerobic glycolysis, a common feature of highly aggressive cancer cells. Hypoxia has also been shown to induce cell invasion, survival, and drug-resistance through altered gene expression, and promote cell motility through EMT induction. Since IRS-2 has been implicated in several of the cellular processes altered by hypoxia, including cell motility, invasion, survival, glycolysis, and metastasis, we sought to determine if IRS-2 was a hypoxia-responsive gene and if its upregulation contributed to the effect of hypoxia on tumor cells.

Based on the positive role of IRS-2 in tumor progression and metastasis, IRS-2 could be a valid target for designing new therapies. However, since the IRS-2 protein does not have enzymatic activity, it cannot be used as a treatment target. Therefore, understanding the mechanism of regulation of its transcription could uncover new avenues for targeting IRS-2 expression in cancer cells.

### Figures



**Figure 1.1. Schematic of the IRS protein family.** Interaction domains of the IRS proteins are indicated. PH (pink), pleckstrin homology domain; PTB (purple), phosphotyrosine binding domain; KRLB (blue), kinase regulatory loop binding domain; PI3K (orange), region containing multiple PI3K binding motifs; Grb-2 (green), Grb-2 binding site; SHP-2 (yellow), SHP-2 binding site.



**Figure 1.2. Signaling via the IRS proteins.** The IRS proteins are recruited to activated cell surface receptors via PH/PTB domains in their N-termini. Once bound, they are phosphorylated on tyrosine residues in their C-termini. The phosphorylation of tyrosine residues (pY) creates docking sites for the recruitment of downstream signaling effectors. Subsequently, downstream signaling pathways are activated that can regulate gene expression, protein synthesis, glycolysis, cell proliferation, survival and motility/invasion.

# CHAPTER II: Hypoxia regulates Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 expression to promote

breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion

Parts of this chapter represent work published as:

Hypoxia regulates Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 expression to promote breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion.

Mardilovich K., Shaw L.M.

Department of Cancer Biology, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, Massachusetts 01605.

Cancer Res. 2009 Dec 1; 69(23): 8894-901.

### Abstract

Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 (IRS-2) belongs to the IRS family of adaptor proteins that function as signaling intermediates for growth factor, cytokine and integrin receptors, many of which have been implicated in cancer. Although the IRS proteins share significant homology, distinct functions have been attributed to each family member in both normal and tumor cells. In cancer, IRS-2 is positively associated with aggressive tumor behavior. In the current study, we demonstrate that IRS-2 expression, but not IRS-1 expression, is positively regulated by hypoxia, which selects for tumor cells with increased metastatic potential. We identify IRS-2 as a novel hypoxia responsive gene and establish that IRS-2 gene transcription increases in a HIF-dependent manner in hypoxic environments. IRS-2 is active to mediate IGF-1-dependent signals in hypoxia, and enhanced activation of Akt in hypoxia is dependent upon IRS-2 expression. Functionally, the elevated expression of IRS-2 facilitates breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion in hypoxia. Collectively, our results reveal a novel mechanism by which IRS-2 contributes to the aggressive behavior of hypoxic tumor cells.
# Introduction

Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 (IRS-2) belongs to the IRS family of cytoplasmic adaptor proteins that function as signaling intermediates for activated cell surface receptors. The IRS proteins are immediate downstream effectors of the insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and insulin receptors, several cytokine receptors, prolactin, growth hormone (GH) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptors, and members of the integrin receptor family [154]. The IRS proteins act as scaffold proteins to recruit signaling molecules to the receptors to regulate intracellular signaling cascades [155]. Although IRS-1 and IRS-2 share significant homology and both have been implicated in tumorigenesis, distinct functions for these adaptor proteins in cancer progression have been identified [50, 156]. In this regard, IRS-2 is positively associated with aggressive tumor behavior. In MMTV-PyV-MT mice, mammary tumor metastasis is significantly diminished in the absence of Irs-2, and Irs-2 activation is enhanced in Irs-1-deficient tumors that are highly metastatic [43, 59]. Similarly, Irs-2 expression is elevated in tumors that arise in PTEN-/+ mice, and deletion of Irs-2 suppresses tumor growth and progression to invasive disease [45].

Mechanistic experiments aimed at understanding how IRS-2 contributes to tumor progression have revealed a role for this adaptor protein in regulating cell invasion and survival. PyV-MT-derived mammary tumor cells that lack Irs-2 expression are less invasive and more sensitive to apoptosis induced by serum deprivation than are their wild type counterparts [48]. IGF-1 predominantly induces IRS-2 phosphorylation in MDA-MB-231 human breast carcinoma cells selected for metastatic behavior *in vivo* [157]. Introduction of an IRS-2 antisense mRNA into these metastatic cells results in decreased IGF-1-induced cell motility and anchorage-independent growth [157]. Similarly, expression of IRS-2 in T47D breast carcinoma cells results in increased cell motility in response to IGF-1 stimulation [158]. One mechanism by which IRS-2 promotes mammary tumor cell invasion is through the regulation of GLUT-1 localization to the cell surface to increase glucose uptake and enhance aerobic glycolysis [159]. Tumor cells depend more upon glycolysis than oxidative phosphorylation to generate ATP and studies have shown that it provides tumor cells with a selective advantage in their ability to progress towards invasive and metastatic disease [160, 161].

Rapidly growing tumors develop areas of low oxygen tension, or hypoxia, when their growth outpaces the development of new blood vessels [162]. Tumor cells that can develop a metabolic self-sufficiency through anaerobic glycolysis can survive in stressful environments that lack oxygen and other essential nutrients for energy production [163]. In addition, hypoxia upregulates signaling pathways that facilitate invasion and survival [164]. Therefore, exposure of tumor cells to hypoxia creates a selection for cells with a more aggressive, invasive behavior [165]. To conserve energy in hypoxic conditions, overall gene expression is suppressed and primarily genes that are essential for lowoxygen/nutrient adaptation are expressed [166]. Specifically, genes that are upregulated in response to hypoxia are involved in angiogenesis, DNA damage responses, glycolysis and survival [167]. Upregulation of these genes in response to hypoxia ultimately leads to increased metastatic potential [167].

Given that IRS-2 has been implicated in promoting both tumor cell survival and invasion, and regulating tumor cell glycolysis, we sought to determine if IRS-2 expression is regulated by hypoxia, and if this adaptor protein contributes to breast carcinoma cell behavior in hypoxic microenvironments. In this study, we report that IRS-2 expression is increased upon exposure to hypoxia in breast carcinoma cells. The elevated expression of IRS-2 in response to hypoxia facilitates breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion.

# Results

## **IRS-2** expression increases in response to hypoxia.

To determine if IRS-2 expression is regulated by hypoxia, MDA-MB-231 breast carcinoma cells were incubated for increasing periods of time in hypoxic (0.5% oxygen) conditions. When compared with the level of IRS-2 expression in cells maintained in normoxia (0 hours), both IRS-2 protein and mRNA expression increased significantly in response to hypoxia (Fig.2.1A and B). The induction of IRS-2 mRNA occurred within 8 hours of exposure to hypoxia, with maximal levels observed after 16-24 hours. IRS-1 mRNA expression did not increase in response to hypoxia over the same time course (Fig.2.1B). However, IRS-1 protein expression decreased after 16 hrs in hypoxia, a result that is consistent with a previous report that IRS-1 can be degraded through a caspase-mediated cleavage in response to hypoxia [168].

To determine if upregulation of IRS-2 expression is a common response of breast carcinoma cells to hypoxic conditions, IRS-2 expression was evaluated in additional cell lines. As was observed for MDA-MB-231 cells, IRS-2 mRNA and protein expression increased after 16 hrs in hypoxia in SUM159 and SUM149 human breast carcinoma cells, and also in a mouse mammary tumor cell line (PyV-MT:*WT*) (Fig.2.1C and D) [48]. IRS-1 protein and mRNA levels either remained unchanged (human) or decreased (mouse) in response to hypoxia in these additional cell lines (Fig.2.1C and E).

### **IRS-2** is competent for signaling in hypoxic environments.

IRS-2 is phosphorylated on multiple tyrosine and serine residues in response to different stimuli, which results in a mobility shift on SDS-PAGE gels [155]. We observed that IRS-2 mobility increases after exposure to hypoxia for more than 12 hours, which could reflect a decrease in tyrosine phosphorylation and a corresponding decrease in IRS-2 signaling. To determine if IRS-2 retains functional activity in hypoxia, we examined the signaling potential of IRS-2 in hypoxic cells. IRS-2 tyrosine phosphorylation levels and binding to the regulatory subunit of PI3K (p85) were compared in SUM159 cells that were incubated for 15 hrs in normoxia or hypoxia in the presence or absence of IGF-1 (50 ng/ml), or stimulated with IGF-1 for 15 minutes at the end of the 15-hour incubation. In normoxia, IRS-2 tyrosyl-phosphorylation increased in response to both acute and long-term IGF-1 stimulation, and PI3K recruitment increased in parallel (Fig.2.2A). In hypoxia, IRS-2 phosphorylation levels and association with PI3K were elevated 2.7-fold in the absence of exogenous IGF-1 stimulation when compared with cells maintained in normoxia, and both tyrosine phosphorylation and PI3K interactions were increased further in response to acute IGF-1 stimulation (15 min) (Fig.2.2A). Long-term IGF-1 stimulation under hypoxic conditions resulted in decreased IRS-2 expression, tyrosine-phosphorylation and association with p85 (Fig.2.2A), most likely due to the activation of a negative feedback mechanism in response to prolonged activation of this pathway [169]. Therefore, IRS-2 is functionally active and capable of signaling in hypoxic cells.

To investigate further how IRS-2 contributes to the hypoxic tumor response, activation of intracellular signaling pathways in PyV-MT:*WT* and PyV-MT:*Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup>* mammary tumor cell lines were examined in either normoxia or hypoxia. MAPK activation

was induced by hypoxia in both cell lines and there was a modest increase in activation in the presence of IGF-1 (Fig.2.2B). Activation of Akt was increased 16-fold in WT cells in response to hypoxia, and activation was enhanced further in response to IGF-1 stimulation (Fig.2.2B). However, Akt activation did not increase in hypoxia in the absence of IRS-2 (Fig.2.2B).

# IRS-2 promotes tumor cell viability in hypoxia.

Genes that allow cells to adapt to low oxygen conditions are upregulated in hypoxia [170]. To determine if enhanced IRS-2 expression contributes to cell survival in hypoxia, PyV-MT:*WT* and PyV-MT:*Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup>* mammary tumor cells were incubated in hypoxia or normoxia for 24 hours in complete culture medium. PyV-MT:*Irs-2<sup>-/-</sup>* cells were significantly more sensitive to hypoxia-induced apoptosis than PyV-MT:*WT* cells (Fig.2.3A). To confirm a role for IRS-2 in the survival of mammary tumor cells in hypoxic environments, IRS-2 expression was suppressed by shRNA in PyV-MT:*WT* cells (Fig.2.3B). Cells expressing IRS-2-specific shRNA were more apoptotic in hypoxia when compared with cells expressing vector alone or parental PyV-MT:*WT* cells (Fig.2.3C). A similar impact of IRS-2 on survival in hypoxia was observed for the human SUM159 cell line. Cells expressing two independent IRS-2 shRNA targeting sequences that showed the best decrease in IRS-2 expression (Fig.2.3D) exhibited a significant increase in hypoxia-induced apoptosis when compared with parental or GFP shRNA expressing cells (Fig.2.3E).

## IRS-2 promotes tumor cell invasion in hypoxia.

Stable shRNA-mediated knockdown of IRS-2 in MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig.2.3F) did not sensitize these cells to hypoxia-induced apoptosis (Fig.2.3G). MDA-MB-231 cells are likely resistant to apoptosis in response to IRS-2 suppression because they express mutated Ras, which can directly activate survival signaling pathways, bypassing the need for IRS-2 [171]. However, suppression of IRS-2 expression impaired significantly the ability of this highly metastatic cell line to invade in hypoxic conditions. Hypoxic cells with decreased IRS-2 levels were over 50% less invasive than parental or control GFP shRNA expressing cells (Fig.2.4A). A similar 40 % decrease in invasion in hypoxia was observed in SUM159 cells expressing IRS-2 snRNA (Fig.2.4B). However, since SUM159 cells are also apoptotic under the same conditions, we evaluated whether the decrease in invasion was due to increased apoptosis. Repeating the experiment in the presence of the DEVD apoptosis inhibitor showed that suppression of invasion was the result of apoptosis and IRS-2 was not required for the invasion of SUM159 cells in hypoxia (Fig.2.4C). Taken together with the differential impact of IRS-2 on the survival of breast carcinoma cells, our data support that IRS-2 promotes either breast carcinoma survival or invasion in hypoxia in a cell typedependent manner, which is likely to reflect the heterogeneity of signaling pathway activity in tumor cells.

### Hypoxia regulates IRS-2 transcription.

To examine the mechanism by which IRS-2 expression is enhanced by hypoxia, we compared IRS-2 protein and mRNA stability under normoxic and hypoxic conditions in

murine PyV-MT:*WT* and human MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were incubated for 16 hours in hypoxia and then treated with either cycloheximide (CH) or Actinomycin D (ActD) for additional time periods to inhibit protein translation or mRNA transcription, respectively. IRS-1 and IRS-2 protein expression decreased in both cell lines after addition of CH in both normoxic and hypoxic conditions (Fig.2.5A). Densitometric analysis revealed that IRS-2 protein is slightly less stable in hypoxia when compared with normoxia (Fig.2.5B). The decreased gel mobility observed for both IRS-1 and IRS-2 after treatment with CH is most likely due to increased ubiquitination, as it has been previously shown that the IRS proteins can be degraded through ubiquitin-dependent proteasomal degradation [169, 172]. IRS-2 mRNA stability was similar in hypoxia and normoxia for both murine PyV-MT:WT and human MDA-MB-231 cell lines (Fig.2.5C).

Next, we sought to determine if IRS-2 mRNA expression is regulated by hypoxia at the level of gene transcription. MDA-MB-231 cells were pretreated with ActD for 30 minutes prior to hypoxic exposure to block *de novo* gene transcription. Cells were incubated for 16 hours in hypoxia in the continued presence of ActD or vehicle (DMSO), or left untreated. ActD pre-incubation inhibited the upregulation of IRS-2 expression in response to hypoxia (Fig.2.6A). To investigate further the hypoxic regulation of IRS-2 transcription, MDA-MB-231 cells were transiently transfected with a pGL3-luciferase plasmid containing 2.3 Kb or 1Kb of the human IRS-2 promoter [173]. A 2.5 fold induction of luciferase activity was observed in hypoxia for the IRS-2 promoter, which mimics the fold change in endogenous IRS-2 mRNA expression in MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig.2.6B). A modest upregulation of IRS-2 protein in the absence of an mRNA increase was sometimes observed in response to acute hypoxia (0.5-2 hours) (Fig.2.1A). To test if this increase was regulated by translation or protein stability, MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with cycloheximide (CH) before exposure to hypoxia for 0.5, 2, or 4 hours. Untreated cells showed a small upregulation of IRS-2 protein at 0.5 hours in hypoxia. This effect was enhanced in the cells pre-treated with CH, indicating that the upregulation of IRS-2 protein expression in response to acute hypoxia does not require translation and is likely the result of a transient increase in protein stability (Fig.2.6C).

# HIF-1 and HIF-2 are required for the regulation of IRS-2 transcription in response to hypoxia.

The HIF family of transcription factors are the major regulators of hypoxia-induced transcription [131, 174, 175]. To determine if HIF-1 or HIF-2 play a role in regulating IRS-2 expression in response to hypoxia, an siRNA targeting approach was used to transiently suppress HIF-1 $\alpha$  or HIF-2 $\alpha$  expression (Fig.2.7A). Knockdown of HIF-1 $\alpha$  or HIF-2 $\alpha$  alone did not significantly inhibit IRS-2 protein or mRNA expression in hypoxia. However, simultaneous knockdown of both HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  prevented IRS-2 protein and mRNA upregulation in response to hypoxia (Fig.2.7B).

# Discussion

In this study, we identify IRS-2 as a hypoxia-responsive gene that contributes to breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion in hypoxic environments. Exposure of breast carcinoma cells to hypoxia increases IRS-2 expression, but not IRS-1 expression, at the level of gene transcription. IRS-2 is phosphorylated on tyrosine residues and recruits PI3K in response to IGF-1 stimulation in hypoxia, indicating that IRS-2 is functionally active to mediate signaling in low oxygen conditions. In this regard, activation of Akt in response to hypoxia is dependent upon IRS-2 expression. Functionally, IRS-2 can protect cells from apoptosis and promote invasion in hypoxic environments. Collectively, our results provide a novel mechanism by which IRS-2 contributes to the aggressive behavior and metastasis of hypoxic tumor cells.

IRS-1 and IRS-2 expression are differentially regulated by hypoxia in breast carcinoma cells, a finding that adds to a growing body of evidence that these homologous adaptor proteins are not functionally redundant. IGF-1-dependent signaling through IRS-1 or IRS-2 in human breast carcinoma cells stimulates proliferation or migration/invasion, respectively [158]. IRS-2, but not IRS-1, has been implicated in metabolic regulation in tumor cells, through the regulation of glycolysis [159]. *In vivo*, mammary tumors that lack Irs-2 expression are significantly impaired in their ability to metastasize, and Irs-1 cannot compensate for this function [48]. In fact, in the absence of Irs-1 expression, Irs-2 expression and signaling increase in cell lines in culture and in tumors, and metastasis is enhanced [176]. Taken together, these findings infer that the balance of IRS-1 and IRS-2 expression can significantly impact tumor cell function and progression. Shifting the IRS

balance in favor of IRS-2 would promote metabolic independence, invasive ability and survival, factors that contribute to the metastatic potential of a tumor. The fact that hypoxia concurrently suppresses IRS-1 expression while upregulating IRS-2 expression reveals a novel endogenous mechanism by which this balance is altered to favor tumor progression.

The regulation of IRS-2 gene expression by hypoxia implicates IRS-2 in the adaptation of tumor cells to hypoxia and reveals a novel mechanism by which hypoxic cells acquire a more aggressive behavior after exposure to low oxygen conditions. Hypoxia occurs in areas of tumors that are poorly vascularized, which results in decreased oxygen delivery to the tumor cells [177]. Overall, gene expression is suppressed in hypoxia as a mechanism to conserve energy in this stresssful microenvironment, which is often lacking in nutrient availability as well [167]. In general, the genes that are expressed in hypoxic environments are essential for tumor cells to survive in, and ultimately adapt to, low oxygen conditions. For example, genes that regulate anaerobic glycolysis are coordinately expressed in hypoxia to facilitate energy production when oxidative phosphorylation is inhibited by insufficient oxygenation [131]. Genes such as VEGF are also upregulated to increase angiogenesis and restore normoxic conditions [178]. Chronic exposure to hypoxia creates a selection for cells with a tolerance for hypoxia and these cells become more invasive and metastatic [165]. The impact of this selective pressure is highlighted by recent studies revealing that anti-angiogenic therapy alone may provide only short term benefit for many cancer patients because the disruption of blood vessels leads to increased hypoxia, and patients will go on to develop metastatic disease [120, 121]. These studies underscore the importance of understanding how tumor cells maintain their viability in hypoxia. Our current findings that IRS-2 contributes to breast carcinoma cell survival in hypoxia, along with our previous demonstrations that IRS-2 regulates aerobic glycolysis and positively contributes to mammary tumor metastasis, identify this adaptor protein as a key mediator of signals that influence tumor cell responses to hypoxia.

Our data reveal that one mechanism by which IRS-2 contributes to the hypoxic tumor response is by sustaining activation of Akt in hypoxia. In our previous in vivo studies, Akt signaling was upregulated in PyV-MT:  $Irs-1^{-/-}$  tumors that have enhanced Irs-2 expression and association with PI3K, providing evidence that our in vitro findings linking IRS-2 with Akt activation are recapitulated in tumors [176]. A number of studies have implicated Akt signaling in positively regulating tumor cell survival in hypoxia and several mechanisms for its action have been proposed [179]. Akt negatively regulates the function of pro-apoptotic downstream effectors including the FOXO transcription factors and the pro-apoptotic protein Bad [180]. IRS-2 regulates FOXO function through Akt in mouse embryo fibroblasts, and this regulatory pathway has been proposed to control nutrient homeostasis [181]. Viability and growth are also influenced by the Akt-dependent regulation of genes that control energy production through the switch from oxidative phosphorylation to anaerobic glycolysis for ATP generation [182]. Akt signaling can also enhance the expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  to amplify the expression of HIF target genes [183, 184]. In this regard, SUM149 cells, which lack PTEN and have elevated Akt activity, exhibited the greatest induction of IRS-2 expression in hypoxia [185]. As mentioned previously, tumors that arise in PTEN+/- mice also have elevated IRS-2 expression [45]. These findings raise the possibility that in tumor cells with PI3K pathway mutations, hypoxia provides a second "positive hit" by upregulating IRS-2 expression to counterbalance negative feedback regulation of IRS-2, and by doing so enhancing downstream PI3K signaling to promote tumor progression.

Hypoxic regulation of IRS-2 expression requires the function of either HIF-1 or HIF-2. The HIFs are major regulators of hypoxia-responsive gene transcription and each factor consists of two subunits, HIF- $\alpha$  and HIF- $\beta$ /ARNT [186]. HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$ subunits are highly homologous, and both contain basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH), Per/ARNT/Sim (PAS), and oxygen-dependent degradation (ODD) domains [186]. In low oxygen conditions, the HIF- $\alpha$  subunit is stabilized and it interacts with HIF- $\beta$  to form the active HIF transcription factor, which binds to HRE sequences in target genes [187]. HIF-1 and HIF-2 can regulate both unique and common target genes [136, 188]. Suppression of both HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  was required to prevent hypoxia-dependent upregulation, indicating that IRS-2 is a common target gene for HIF-1 and HIF-2. However, given the lack of a canonical HRE in the hypoxia responsive region of the promoter that we identified and the delayed timing of the increase in IRS-2 expression in response to hypoxia, additional factors are likely to contribute to the regulation of IRS-2 expression. A number of transcription factors have been identified that stimulate gene expression in response to hypoxia, and these factors either act in cooperation with HIF, or are regulated by HIF, to alter hypoxic gene expression [189]. Importantly, some of these transcription factors have been previously implicated in the regulation of IRS-2 gene expression including AP-1, the forkhead transcription factors FOXO1 and FOXO3a, and CREB [80, 85].

The delayed timing of IRS-2 expression and the fact that a functional HRE site is not required for hypoxia-dependent regulation indicates that IRS-2 may be an indirect HIF target. We hypothesize that HIF regulates the expression of an intermediate transcription factor that binds to the IRS-2 promoter directly. A number of transcription factors have been identified that regulate gene expression in response to hypoxia, and these factors either act independently or in cooperation with HIF to alter hypoxic gene expression [170]. Many of these factors are targets of HIFs, and their expression increases in a HIFdependent manner. Importantly, some of these transcription factors have been previously implicated in the regulation of IRS-2 gene expression. AP-1 is required for the EGFinduced regulation of IRS-2 expression [85]. AP-1 can be regulated by hypoxia in a cell type-specific manner and it modulates target gene expression in hypoxia by cooperating with and altering the activity of other transcription factors, including HIF-1 [170, 190]. Members of the forkhead transcription family, FOXO1 and FOXO3a, positively regulate IRS-2 expression in primary hepatocytes through an insulin response element (IRE) sequence in the promoter [80]. Expression of the FOXO3a transcription factor is upregulated by hypoxia in a HIF-1-dependent manner in fibroblasts and in MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells [151]. This upregulation leads to activation of a feedback loop in which FOXO3a in turn induces transcription of CITED2, a negative regulator of HIF-1 function to inhibit expression of HIF-1 pro-apoptotic target genes [151]. In mouse islet  $\beta$ -cells, IRS-2 expression is positively regulated by c-AMP-mediated activation of CREB [191]. CREB phosphorylation and activation can be regulated by hypoxia [192]. In addition, CBP/p300, a CREB co-activator, forms a DNA-bound complex with HIF-1 to regulate hypoxia-responsive gene expression, including EPO and VEGF [141]. Moreover, several studies have shown that the CRE-binding transcription factors ATF-1 and CREB can bind to the canonical HRE sequence, while HIF-1 can also bind to the CRE element to activate transcription of target genes [193, 194].

In summary, we have established a novel mechanism by which hypoxia selects for aggressive tumor behavior and promotes metastatic disease. The identification of IRS-2 as a hypoxia-responsive gene that regulates signaling pathways important for tumor cell survival and invasion in hypoxic environments opens a new avenue for investigation into how this pathway could be manipulated for therapeutic benefit.

### **Materials and Methods**

**Cell lines and hypoxia treatment.** Mouse mammary tumor cell lines were isolated from PyV-MT-derived wild-type (*WT*) and  $Irs-2^{-/-}$  tumors as described previously [48]. MDA-MB-231 human breast carcinoma cells were obtained from ATCC. SUM159 and SUM149 human breast carcinoma cells were a gift from Dr. A. Mercurio (UMass Medical School).

For hypoxia exposure, cells were maintained at a constant gas mixture of 0.5% oxygen, 94.5% nitrogen and 5% carbon dioxide in an InVivo<sub>2</sub> Hypoxia Workstation (Ruskinn Technology Ltd) for periods of time indicated in each Figure Legend.

**Cycloheximide and Actinomycin-D treatments.** Cells were incubated in normoxia or hypoxia for 16 hours and then cycloheximide (20ug/ml) (Sigma) or Actinomycin-D (10uM) (Sigma) were added to the cell culture medium for 1, 3, or 6 hours of incubation. Cells were also pretreated with Actinomycin-D (10uM) or DMSO for 30 minutes in normoxia before being transferred to hypoxia.

Luciferase assays. The human 1 Kb IRS-2 promoter-luciferase expression plasmid was a gift from Dr. J. Goldstein (UT Southwestern Medical Center) [195]. The human 2.3 Kb IRS-2 promoter luciferase plasmid was a gift from Dr. A. Lee (Baylor College of Medicine) [85, 173].

Cells were plated in triplicate wells of a 24-well plate and co-transfected with the promoter-luciferase plasmids (0.25 ug) and a pRL-CMV renilla luciferase plasmid (0.25 ug) (Promega). After an overnight incubation, duplicate plates were incubated either in

hypoxia or normoxia for 24 hours. Cells were assayed for firefly and renilla luciferase activity using the Dual-Glo Luciferase Assay System (Promega).

**RNAi-mediated suppression of gene expression.** HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$  smart pool siRNAs (Dharmacon) were transfected using Oligofectamine reagent (Invitrogen). Lentiviral vectors containing murine Irs-2 small hairpin RNAs (shRNA) were a gift from Dr. B. Lewis (UMass Medical School). Lentiviral vectors containing human IRS-2 and GFP small hairpin RNAs were obtained from Open Biosystems (Huntsville, AL).

RNA extraction and real-time quantitative PCR (RQ-PCR). mRNA was extracted from cells using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen), treated with DNaseI (Invitrogen), and converted to cDNA using SuperscriptII<sup>®</sup> Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen). Gene expression was quantified using Syber Green RT-PCR master mix reagents (Applied Biosystems). The Delta Ct method was used to quantify the relative expression of each gene. IRS expression was normalized to either murine GAPDH or human Actin. Primers used in RQ-PCR: mouse Irs-1 (forward: 5'-ctggacatcacagcagaatga-3' and reverse: 5'ggtaaacaaaactgtaacggatgc-3'), mouse Irs-2 (forward: 5'-cactggagctttgccctct-3' and reverse: 5'-gctggtagcgcttcactctt-3'), mouse GAPDH (forward: 5'-ggagaaacctgccaagtatga-3' and reverse: 5'-accaggaaatgagcttgaca-3'), human IRS-1 (forward: 5'-caactggacatcacagcagaa-3' 5'-actgaaatggatgcatcgtacc-3'), IRS-2 (forward: and reverse human 5'ccaccatcgtgaaagagtga-3' and reverse: 5'-cagagtccacagatgtttccaa-3'), human Actin (forward: 5'-tgagcgcggctacagctt-3' and reverse: 5'-tccttaatgtcacgcacgattt-3').

Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting. IRS-2 immunoprecipitations and immunoblots were performed as described previously [48] using the following antibodies: IRS-2 (immunoblot, EMD Biosciences, Inc.; immunoprecipitation, Bethyl Labs); phosphotyrosine (PY99; Santa Cruz Biotechnology); p85 (gift from Dr. A. Toker, Harvard Medical School); IRS-1 (Bethyl Labs); tubulin (Sigma). All other antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology, Inc. Band intensities were quantified by densitometry using LabWorks Analysis Software (UVP, Inc.).

**Apoptosis assays.** Cells were plated at equal densities and allowed to adhere to plates in normoxia for 24 hours before being transferred to hypoxia for an additional 24 hours. For apoptosis assays with SUM159 cells, the culture medium was replaced with serum-free RPMI 1640 (GIBCO<sup>®</sup>) supplemented with 1g/L glucose prior to their transfer to hypoxia. Cells were analyzed using the Annexin V-PE Apoptosis Detection Kit (BD Pharmingen<sup>TM</sup>).

**Invasion assays.** Cells were incubated in hypoxia for 16 hours prior to the invasion assay and then maintained in the hypoxia chamber during assay preparation. Invasion assays were performed as described previously [159].

**Statistics.** All data are represented as an average +/- standard error. All statistical analyses were performed using the unpaired Student's *t*-test.

# Figures



Figure 2.1. Hypoxia induces IRS-2 expression. MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated in normoxia (0 hrs) or exposed to hypoxia for the time periods indicated. A) Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2, IRS-1 or Tubulin. B) IRS-1 and IRS-2 mRNA levels were determined by RQ-PCR. Results were plotted as the fold change in mRNA levels compared with normoxic levels. The data shown represent the mean of three independent experiments (+/-SEM). \*, p < 0.04 and \*\*, p < 0.004 relative to normoxic levels. C and D) PyV-MT:WT murine mammary tumor cells and MDA-MB-231, SUM159, and SUM149 human breast carcinoma cells were incubated either in normoxia or hypoxia for 16 hours. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2, IRS-1 or Actin (C). IRS-2 mRNA levels were determined by RQ-PCR (D). The data shown represent the mean of three independent experiments (+/-SEM). \*,  $p \le 0.008$ relative to normoxic levels. E) PyV-MT:WT murine mammary tumor cells, MDA-MB-231 and SUM159 human breast carcinoma cells were incubated either in normoxia or hypoxia for 16 hours. IRS-1 mRNA levels were determined by RO-PCR. The data shown represent the mean of three independent experiments (+/-SEM). \*,  $p \le 0.02$  relative to normoxic levels.



**Figure 2.2. IRS-2 signaling in hypoxia.** A) SUM159 cells were incubated in normoxia or hypoxia for 15 hrs in the presence or absence of IGF-1, or stimulated with IGF-1 for the final 15 minutes of the incubation. Cell extracts were immunoprecipitated with IRS-2-specific antibodies and immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize phosphotyrosine (pTyr) or the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K. The pTyr blot was stripped and reprobed with IRS-2 antibodies. The densitometric values shown represent the fold change in IRS-2 phosphorylation and p85-association relative to unstimulated (0 hr) normoxic conditions. Cell extracts were also immunoblotted for total IRS-2, p85, and tubulin levels. TCL, total cell lysates. B) PyV-MT:*WT* cells were incubated in normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs in the presence or absence of IGF-1. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2, IRS-1, phospho-Akt-S473, total Akt, phospho-Erk1/2 and total Erk1/2. Phospho-Akt levels were normalized to total Akt and the numbers represent phospho-Akt levels relative to unstimulated normoxic phospho-Akt levels.







Figure 2.3. IRS-2 promotes cell survival in hypoxia. A) PyV-MT:WT and PyV-MT:Irs- $2^{-7}$  cells were incubated in normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs in complete growth medium. Apoptosis was determined by Annexin V-PE and 7-AAD staining. \*, p < 0.02 relative to PyV-MT:WT apoptosis in hypoxia; #, p < 0.007 relative to PyV-MT: $Irs2^{-/2}$  apoptosis in normoxia. B and C) PvV-MT:WT subclones stably expressing either an Irs-2-targeted shRNA or a pLKO vector alone (PyV-MT:WT/mock) were incubated in normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2 or Actin (B). Apoptosis was determined by Annexin V-PE and 7-AAD staining (C). \*, p < 0.04 relative to PyV-MT:WT/mock apoptosis in hypoxia. D and E) SUM159 cells stably expressing IRS-2-targeted shRNAs or a GFP-targeted shRNA were incubated in either normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs in serum-free RPMI media supplemented with 1 g/L glucose. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2 or Tubulin (D). Apoptosis was determined by Annexin V-PE and 7-AAD staining (E). \*, p < 0.05relative to SUM159/GFPshRNA apoptosis in hypoxia. F and G) MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing IRS-2-targeted shRNAs or a GFP-targeted shRNA were incubated in either normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs in serum-free RPMI media supplemented with 1 g/L glucose. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2 or Actin (F). Apoptosis was determined by Annexin V-PE and 7-AAD staining. Data shown represent the mean of 3 independent experiments (+/-SEM) (G).



**Figure 2.4. IRS-2 promotes invasion in hypoxia.** A) MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing IRS-2-targeted shRNAs or a GFP-targeted shRNA were incubated in either normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs in serum-free RPMI media supplemented with 1 g/L glucose. Cells were assayed for their invasive potential using a Matrigel Transwell assay. The data were plotted as relative numbers compared with invasion levels of GFPshRNA-expressing cells. The data shown represent the mean (+/-SEM) of 5 independent experiments performed in duplicate. \*, p < 0.01 and \*\*, p = 0.0002 relative to MDA-MB-231/GFPshRNA invasion. B) SUM159 cells stably expressing IRS-2-targeted shRNAs or a GFP-targeted shRNA were incubated in either normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs in serum-free RPMI media supplemented with 1 g/L glucose. Cells were assayed for their invasive potential using a Matrigel Transwell assay. The data were plotted as relative numbers compared with invasion levels of GFPshRNA-expressing cells. The data shown represent the mean (+/-SEM) of 5 independent experiments and the presence of DEVD apoptosis inhibitor.



**Figure 2.5. IRS-2 protein and mRNA stability are not increased by hypoxia.** PyV-MT:*WT* (left) and MDA-MB-231 (right) cells were incubated in either normoxia or hypoxia for 16 hrs (0 hrs) before the addition of cycloheximide (A and B) or Actinomycin D (C) for the time periods indicated. A) Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2, IRS-1 or Tubulin. B) IRS-2 expression levels in (A) were quantified by densitometry. The data shown represent the mean of three independent experiments (+/-SEM). C) IRS-2 mRNA levels were quantified by RQ-PCR and the change in mRNA levels (%) relative to no treatment (0 hrs) was determined. The data shown represent the mean of three independent experiments the mean of three independent experiments (+/-SEM).



**Figure 2.6. Hypoxia regulates IRS-2 transcription.** A) MDA-MB-231 cells were pretreated with ActD or DMSO prior to incubation in hypoxia for 16-hours. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2, IRS-1 or Actin. The vertical line in the IRS-1 blot denotes different exposures. (B) MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with the indicated promoter-luciferase constructs and assayed for luciferase activity after incubation in normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hrs. The relative luciferase values are shown and they represent the mean of four independent experiments (+/- SEM). \*, p ≤ 0.003 and \*\*, p < 0.0002 relative to normoxic luciferase values. C) MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated in hypoxia with or without Cycloheximide for the indicated periods of time. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2 or tubulin.



Figure 2.7. HIF is required for hypoxic IRS-2 expression. A and B) SUM159 cells transfected with HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$ -targeted siRNA oligonucleotides were incubated in normoxia or hypoxia for 16 hrs. Cell extracts were immunoblotted with antibodies that recognize IRS-2, HIF-1 $\alpha$ , HIF-2 $\alpha$  and tubulin (A) and mRNA levels were determined by RQ-PCR (B). \*, p < 0.009 relative to normoxic IRS-2 levels; HIF1/2si, HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  siRNA co-transfection.

# CHAPTER III: Hypoxia Inducible Factors (HIFs) cooperate with Snail in the

regulation of IRS-2 expression in hypoxia

# Abstract

Insulin Receptor Substrate-2, an adaptor protein for multiple receptors, including the insulin and IGF-1 receptors, has been implicated in the regulation of cellular processes leading to cancer progression, invasion, and metastasis. IRS-2 expression varies between different cell types and often correlates with a more aggressive and invasive phenotype. Regulation of IRS-2 expression has been shown to change in response to several stimuli in breast cancer but remains not well understood. Here we report that mesenchymal-like breast cancer cell lines that exhibit invasive and metastatic behavior have the ability to upregulate IRS-2 expression in hypoxia. We have found that the constitutive presence of Snail at the IRS-2 promoter in these cells is required for its upregulation. We show that while both HIF-1 and HIF-2 can bind to the proximal IRS-2 promoter, HIF-2 plays a dominant role in this regulation. Together our data implicate EMT in the ability of breast cancer cells to upregulate IRS-2 expression in hypoxia.

# Introduction

Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 (IRS-2) is a member of the IRS family of cytoplasmic adaptor proteins. Originally identified as signaling effectors of the insulin receptor, the IRS proteins also function as signaling intermediates for the closely related Insulin Like Growth Factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R), as well as some cytokine and integrin receptors [196]. The IRS proteins are recruited to receptors through plextrin homology (PH) and phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domains in their N-termini and they are phosphorylated on tyrosine residues in their C-termini, creating multiple binding motifs that recruit downstream effectors to regulate intracellular signaling cascades that modify cell behavior [155]. Although the IRS proteins share considerable homology, many studies have shown that they can regulate distinct cellular functions in response to common stimuli, indicating that they have unique signaling capabilities. IRS-2 has been implicated in many aspects of tumor biology that are considered important for cancer progression. Specifically, IRS-2 promotes breast cancer cell invasion and migration, enhances tumor cell survival and positively regulates tumor cell glycolysis, all of which are features of metastatic cells [43, 157, 159]. In vivo studies support the importance of IRS-2 for metastasis as PyV-MTderived mammary tumors are significantly impaired in their ability to metastasize in the absence of IRS-2, and are more metastatic in the absence of IRS-1, when IRS-2 expression and signaling are enhanced [43, 59, 156].

Despite the growing evidence for the importance of IRS-2 for tumor progression, relatively little is known regarding how its gene expression is regulated in tumors. IRS-2 is a progesterone-responsive gene and it is directly regulated by the progesterone receptor

(PR) [197]. However, many tumors that are PR-negative maintain expression of IRS-2, indicating that this is not an essential pathway for its expression. In normal hepatocytes and some breast cancer cells, IRS-2 expression increases in response to inhibition of PI3K signaling by chemical inhibitors or by overexpression of PTEN [89]. The mechanism of this induction of expression is likely through enhanced FOXO nuclear localization and direct binding to the IRS-2 promoter. EGF-mediated signaling can also positively regulate IRS-2 expression in breast carcinoma cells through JNK activation and direct AP1 interaction with the IRS-2 promoter [85]. Recently, we reported that *IRS-2* is a hypoxia-responsive gene and that the upregulation of IRS-2 expression in response to hypoxia requires the hypoxia inducible factors HIF-1 and HIF2 [198].

Oxygen concentration in the tumor microenvironment fluctuates during tumor development. When tumors outgrow the pace of blood vessel formation, areas with a poor blood supply are created within the tumor, resulting in low nutrient and oxygen concentration (hypoxia) [92]. Prolonged exposure to hypoxic conditions, and also cycles of normoxia/hypoxia, can result in adaptation of tumor cells to these stressful conditions. This leads to the selection of cells that are resistant to low oxygen, nutrient, and pH environment, and therefore are highly invasive and metastatic [95]. In this regard, induction of IRS-2 in hypoxic environments stimulates Akt signaling and promotes both breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion [198]. Understanding hypoxic regulation of gene expression is crucial for uncovering the mechanisms underlying the metastatic potential of tumor cells. In this report, we investigated the mechanism of IRS-2 transcriptional regulation in response to hypoxia. We have identified a hypoxia-responsive region in the proximal IRS-2 promoter and have established a cell context-dependent cooperative mechanism involving HIF-1/HIF-2 and Snail in the hypoxic regulation of IRS-2 expression.

# Results

### Identification of a hypoxia-responsive region in the human IRS-2 promoter.

As the first step in determining how IRS-2 expression is regulated by hypoxia, a series of deletion constructs were generated using the 1Kb human IRS-2 promoter-luciferase construct that we originally used to demonstrate that IRS-2 is a hypoxia-responsive gene [173, 195, 198]. MDA-MB-231 cells were transiently transfected for 24 hrs with each of the deletion constructs, exposed to 0.5% oxygen (hypoxia) or normoxic cell culture conditions for an additional 24 hours, and then assayed for luciferase activity. Deletion of the 1Kb promoter (-943 to -116, relative to translation start site) to 0.6Kb (-731 to -116) decreased basal promoter activity in normoxia, but a 2.5 fold increase in activity was maintained in response to hypoxia (Fig.3.1A). Further deletion of the region between -731 to -505 (0.4Kb promoter) resulted in a significant reduction of both normoxic and hypoxic IRS-2 promoter activity to background levels (Fig.3.1A), indicating that this deleted region is crucial for promoter activity. To test further the activity of this region of the promoter, a construct containing only -731 to -493 of the IRS-2 promoter (0.2Kb promoter) upstream of luciferase was generated. The luciferase activity of this minimal promoter construct was equivalent to that of the 2.3Kb IRS-2 promoter in both normoxia and hypoxia. Moreover, deletion of this region from the 1Kb promoter ( $\Delta 0.2$ Kb promoter) resulted in ablation of both normoxic and hypoxic activity, confirming that this region is required for basal activity of the IRS-2 promoter and can be upregulated by hypoxia.

Since  $\Delta 0.2$  promoter activity was at or near background levels, its responsiveness to hypoxia could not be tested. To analyze its ability to be upregulated by hypoxia, a fusion

construct of  $\Delta 0.2$  IRS-2 and the SV40 promoter was created. The 0.2Kb-IRS2 and  $\Delta 0.2$ Kb-IRS-2 sequences were placed upstream of the SV40 promoter in the basic pGL3 vector and luciferase activity stimulated by the fusion promoters was analyzed in both normoxic and hypoxic conditions. We observed a minimal upregulation in SV40 promoter activity in response to hypoxia. Therefore, to make sure that only IRS-2 promoter responsiveness to hypoxia is compared, all Luciferase results were normalized to the SV40 values at either normoxic or hypoxic conditions. The 0.2Kb-IRS2/SV40 chimeric promoter showed a two-fold upregulation in activity in response to hypoxia, whereas only a 1.4 fold increase in hypoxia was observed for the  $\Delta 0.2$ Kb-IRS2/SV40 chimeric promoter (Fig.3.1B). Taken together with the deletion analysis data, our results demonstrate that the region of the IRS-2 promoter between -731 to -493 contains regulatory elements that are required for increased gene expression in response to hypoxia.

#### **Role of HRE elements in human IRS-2 promoter activity.**

We have previously reported that either HIF-1 or HIF-2 are required for hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 mRNA expression [198]. To investigate further the mechanism by which IRS-2 expression is positively regulated by hypoxia, we analyzed the IRS-2 promoter for the presence of consensus HIF regulatory element (HRE) sites (5'-nA/GCGTGn-3') [187]. There is one consensus HRE contained within the 1Kb IRS-2 promoter at position -123 to -118 (Fig.3.1A). However, this HRE is not present within the hypoxia-responsive 2.3Kb IRS-2 promoter, which terminates at -124, nor within the 0.2Kb-IRS2 minimal hypoxia-responsive region, suggesting that it is not necessary for the

hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 promoter activity. To confirm this, the HRE was mutated in the 0.6Kb IRS-2 promoter construct and luciferase activity was measured under both normoxic and hypoxic conditions. Although the HRE-mutant promoter exhibited reduced basal luciferase activity in normoxia, it retained hypoxia-induced upregulation, confirming that this HRE is not required for hypoxic regulation of IRS-2 (Fig.3.1C). Next, we searched for HRE sequences outside of the proximal 2.3 Kb IRS-2 promoter and found an additional HRE in the coding region of the human IRS-2 gene (+88 to +94, relative to translation start site). To test the contribution of this HRE to hypoxic regulation of IRS-2, a construct was generated that included this additional HRE (-731 to +222). Inclusion of this region significantly inhibited IRS-2 promoter activity to background levels in both normoxia and hypoxia. We conclude from these data that the HRE at position +88 does not play a role in the regulation of IRS-2 expression by hypoxia, and that the region from -116 to +222 may contain negative regulatory elements (Fig.3.1A).

#### Analysis of the minimal hypoxia-responsive region in the IRS-2 promoter.

We analyzed the 0.2Kb hypoxia-responsive region of the human IRS-2 promoter to identify potential transcription factor binding sites that could play a role in promoting increased IRS-2 expression in hypoxia. Within this region, we identified an E-box (5'-CACATG-3'), an Insulin Response Element (IRE, 5'-TGTTTTG-3'), which has been previously identified to be regulated by FOXO in normal liver cells *in vivo* [80], and an AP1 binding site (Fig.3.1C). To determine the potential role of these sites in the response of the IRS-2 promoter to hypoxia, each site was mutated individually in the context of the

0.6Kb promoter and the luciferase activity of each mutant promoter was assayed in MDA-MB-231 cells after exposure to normoxia or hypoxia. Mutation of the AP1 site decreased normoxic activity, but the fold-increase in activity in hypoxia was maintained (Fig.3.1C). Mutation of the IRE had no effect on promoter activity in either normoxic or hypoxic conditions. In contrast, mutation of the E-box significantly decreased basal promoter activity, but mutant promoter activity was still upregulated by hypoxia over 3 fold (Fig.3.1C). Similarly, mutation of the E-box in the context of the larger 2.3Kb IRS-2 promoter resulted in a significant decrease in luciferase activity in normoxia but did not affect its ability to be upregulated by hypoxia, confirming the importance of this E-Box for basal IRS-2 promoter activity (Fig.3.1D).

The E-Box in the IRS-2 promoter overlaps with an imperfect HRE sequence (5'-ACATG-3'). To investigate the possibility that HIF binding to either this site or the consensus HRE at -123 is sufficient for hypoxic induction, combined mutations in the E-box and HRE were generated in the 0.6Kb promoter. Combined E-box/HRE mutations marginally decreased the fold upregulation of 0.6 IRS-2 promoter activity by hypoxia, but this promoter was still upregulated 2 fold by hypoxia (Fig.3.1C). Mutation of the IRE, which is adjacent to the E-box, in combination with the E-Box mutation reduced the fold-induction of promoter activity by hypoxia over that observed for the E-box mutant alone, suggesting that this region in the promoter may contribute to the regulation of IRS-2 expression by hypoxia (Fig.3.1C). A cooperation between these two sites has been previously reported for the regulation of IRS-2 expression by insulin in hepatocytes [79].

#### HIFs cooperate with Snail to regulate IRS-2 expression in hypoxia.

To further our investigation of the mechanism by which IRS-2 expression is regulated by hypoxia, we next focused on potential factors that are known to bind to consensus E-box sequences. The cell lines that we have demonstrated to upregulate IRS-2 expression in hypoxia (MDA-MB-231, SUM-159, and SUM149) have a mesenchymallike, invasive phenotype [198]. IRS-2 has been previously implicated in contributing to the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [85, 199]. In light of these findings, we hypothesized that factors associated with regulating the mesenchymal phenotype could be involved in the regulation of IRS-2 expression. For this reason, we investigated the possibility that Snail, a factor that binds to E-box sequences and regulates the EMT could play a role in regulating IRS-2 expression in response to hypoxia. Snail expression was transiently suppressed in SUM159 and MDA-MB-231 cells by siRNA transfection before exposure of the cells to hypoxia. Suppression of Snail resulted in only a small reduction of IRS-2 mRNA and protein expression in hypoxia (Fig.3.2A and C). In our previous experiments to investigate HIF involvement in IRS-2 regulation, we observed that suppression of HIF-1 or HIF-2 alone resulted in only a small reduction in hypoxic IRS-2 expression in SUM-159 cells, but that suppression of HIF-1 and HIF-2 together decreased hypoxic IRS-2 expression to almost normoxic levels [198]. To determine if Snail cooperates with either HIF-1 or HIF2 to regulate IRS-2 expression, combined knockdowns of Snail with HIF-1alpha or HIF-2alpha were performed and the effect on IRS-2 mRNA and protein expression was evaluated in normoxia and hypoxia. Simultaneous knockdown of Snail and either HIF-1alpha or HIF-2alpha inhibited the hypoxic induction of IRS-2 mRNA by ~50% in SUM-159 cells (Figs.3.2C and D). In MDA-MB-231 cells, co-
suppression of Snail and HIF-1alpha did not reduce IRS-2 mRNA expression, whereas knockdown of Snail and HIF-2alpha together completely inhibited the upregulation of IRS-2 mRNA expression in response to hypoxia (Figs.3.2A and B). Taken together, these results support that Snail can cooperate with both HIF-1 and HIF-2 to regulate IRS-2 expression, but that the relative contribution of HIF-1 and HIF-2 is cell context dependent.

#### Role of HIF-1 and HIF-2 in IRS-2 expression.

To investigate the differences we observed in the contribution of HIF-1 and HIF-2 to regulating hypoxic expression of IRS-2 in the two independent cell lines we evaluated their expression in these cells. Comparison of HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha expression after 24hrs in hypoxia revealed that the two cell lines each express both HIFs, however, SUM159 cells express predominantly HIF-1alpha, while MDA-MB-231 cells express predominantly HIF-2alpha (Fig.3.2E). In a time-course analysis, HIF-1alpha expression was induced and sustained in SUM159 cells at the later hypoxia time-points when IRS-2 expression is increased, while HIF-1alpha expression peaked between 2-8 hrs of hypoxia and was significantly diminished at the later time points in MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig.3.2F). HIF-2alpha expression was induced at later time points in both cell lines. SUM159 cells also express markedly higher levels of Snail than MDA-MB-231 cells, which provides a possible explanation for the less efficient inhibition of hypoxic IRS-2 expression in the combined knockdown experiments (Fig.3.2E).

To examine further the relative roles of HIF-2 and Snail in hypoxic IRS-2 expression, we evaluated if overexpression of either factor alone could increase IRS-2

expression in normoxia. Transient overexpression of HIF-2alpha markedly increased IRS-2 expression, when expressed alone or in combination with Snail. However, Snail overexpression alone had no effect on IRS-2 protein levels (Fig.3.3A and B).

To investigate if Snail, HIF-1 and HIF-2 directly regulate IRS-2 expression, the binding of each factor to the IRS-2 promoter was evaluated under normoxic and hypoxic conditions by chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analysis, using primers that amplify the region of the IRS-2 promoter surrounding the E-box. For these experiments we used SUM-159 cells, which express all three factors at the 24 hr hypoxic time-point. Snail was present at the IRS-2 promoter in normoxia and the level of binding did not increase in hypoxia (Fig.3.3C). HIF-1 and HIF-2 were both present at the IRS-2 promoter in normoxic conditions, and their binding increased in response to hypoxia, as did the binding of PoIII (Fig.3.3D). These results support our hypothesis that both HIF-1 and HIF-2 can regulate IRS-2 expression in hypoxia, but that they likely do so in a cell context-dependent manner, dependent upon the expression levels of each factor. These results also explain our previously published observation that suppression of both HIF-1 and HIF-2 was required to inhibit the hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 expression in SUM159 cells [198].

## Role of Snail-driven EMT in hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 expression.

Our data demonstrate that the binding of Snail to the IRS-2 promoter is not increased by hypoxia, and the overexpression of Snail alone does not increase IRS-2 expression. HIF has been previously shown to selectively regulate expression of genes that are actively transcribed in normoxia [200]. Therefore, we hypothesized that the constitutive presence of Snail at the IRS-2 promoter in mesenchymal-like cells may facilitate hypoxia-dependent regulation of IRS-2 expression by maintaining the promoter in a "permissive," open state and allowing HIF-dependent transcription in hypoxia. To test this hypothesis, IRS-2 expression levels were compared in invasive mesenchymal-like cells (MDA-MB-231 and SUM159) and well-differentiated non-invasive epithelial-like cells (MCF7 and T47D) in normoxia and hypoxia. MCF-7 and T47D cells have significantly lower basal expression levels of IRS-2 than MDA-MB-231 and SUM-159 cells in normoxia. Moreover, these well differentiated cells fail to increase IRS-2 expression in response to hypoxia (Fig.3.4A and B). MCF-7 and T47D cells express both HIF-1 and HIF-2 and have comparative levels of Snail to MDA-MB-231. However, these cells have significantly lower levels of nuclear Snail than MDA-MB-231 and SUM159 cell lines in hypoxia (Fig.3.4B). To analyze if Snail or HIF-2 binds directly to the IRS-2 promoter in epithelial-like cell lines, ChIP experiments were performed with MCF7 cells. Consistent with low levels of IRS-2 expression, we observed very weak PolII binding, compared to SUM159 cells, and a faint presence of Snail at normoxia that disappeared under hypoxic conditions. As expected, Snail was also not bound to the E-cadherin promoter, indicating that Snail is not active in MCF7 cells. No HIF-1 or HIF-2 binding to the IRS-2 promoter was observed in MCF7 cells in normoxia or hypoxia, supporting our hypothesis that Snail binding to the IRS-2 promoter may be required for HIF-dependent transcription of IRS-2. As controls for HIF-1 and HIF-2 activity in MCF7 cells, we confirmed binding of each factor to the promoters of their target genes, PGK-1 and EPO, respectively (Fig.3.4C).

In contrast to MDA-MB-231 and SUM159 cells, overexpression of HIF-2 in MCF7 cells did not increase IRS-2 expression (Fig.3.5A), indicating the importance of Snail for

HIF-dependent expression of IRS-2. To confirm a role for Snail in the regulation of hypoxic IRS-2 expression, Snail was overexpressed in MCF-7 for 48 hours before exposure of cells to hypoxia or normoxia for an additional 24 hours. A mild upregulation in IRS-2 mRNA expression was observed in response to hypoxia, which was not observed in vector alone transfected cells (Fig.3.5B). To ensure that the exogenous expression of Snail was localized to the nucleus, nuclear fractionation was performed with MCF7 cells overexpressing Snail. Overexpressed Snail was localized to the nucleus and was not retained in the cytoplasm, (Fig.3.5C).

To test the role of endogenously upregulated Snail in regulation of IRS-2 expression, MCF-7 cells were treated with TGF- $\beta$  in charcoal-stripped serum (CSS) containing media for 6 days to induce EMT before exposing the cells to hypoxia. CSS-containing medium was used to remove estrogen from the media in order to promote the EMT process. MCF7 cells have been previously shown to acquire EMT-like features when they lose estrogen-dependence [201]. Cells treated with CSS+TGF-beta showed a decrease in normoxic IRS-2 mRNA levels, but were able to upregulate expression in hypoxia, unlike cells maintained in normal growth medium supplemented with FBS. The level of hypoxic IRS-2 mRNA in TGF-beta-treated cells was higher than hypoxic IRS-2 mRNA levels in untreated cells that showed a significant decrease in IRS-2 expression in hypoxia (Fig.3.5D).

To demonstrate that binding of Snail to the IRS-2 promoter is important for HIFbinding, direct binding of Snail and HIF-2 to the IRS-2 promoter in normoxia and hypoxia in MCF7 cells after TGF-beta treatment was analyzed by ChIP. In contrast to untreated MCF7 cells (Fig.3.4C), an increased binding of Pol II and Snail to the IRS-2 promoter in hypoxia was observed, which was also associated with HIF-2 binding (Fig.3.5E).

To test if constitutive binding of Snail to the IRS-2 promoter maintains chromatin in an opened conformation, we analyzed histone 3 methylation on lysine 4 status (H3K4) of the IRS-2 promoter in normoxia and hypoxia in untreated MCF-7 cells or cells that have been treated with TGF-beta. We found that overall H3K4 status did not change with the treatment in normoxia, but treated cells showed increased H3K4 levels under hypoxic conditions (Fig3.5F).

# IRS-2 expression associates with Snail expression in metastatic mammary tumors *in vivo*.

To confirm our *in vitro* data on the role of HIF and Snail in IRS-2 expression, IRS-2, HIF-1, HIF-2, and Snail expression were analyzed in PyV-MT wild-type mammary tumors. We found a strong correlation of increased IRS-2 expression and tumor metastasis. HIF-1 expression fluctuated in the panel of mouse tumors and did not correlate with either IRS-2 expression or tumor metastasis. HIF-2 levels were slightly elevated in two out of four metastatic tumors but did not correlate with IRS-2 expression (Fig.3.6). Expression of Snail was increased in metastatic tumors. We observed a trend in the correlation between Snail and IRS-2 expression. These results support our *in vitro* findings that while dependent on cell context, either HIF-1 or HIF-2 can regulate IRS-2 expression. Additional mechanisms are also required to permit HIF-dependent transcription of IRS-2 in hypoxia, and this may be mediated by Snail.

## Discussion

In this report, we identify a region of the proximal IRS-2 promoter that is necessary and sufficient for the hypoxic regulation of IRS-2 expression. An E-box located in this minimal hypoxia-responsive region is required for the basal activity of the IRS-2 promoter. Both E-box and adjacent IRE sites are important for hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 promoter activity. We demonstrate that HIF-1 and HIF-2 can bind directly to the region of the IRS-2 promoter containing the E-box in SUM159 breast carcinoma cells. However, our data also support that the specificity of HIF function in regulating IRS-2 expression is determined by the relative cellular expression levels of each factor, and that HIF-2 may play a more dominant role than HIF-1 in this regulation. We have also established cell context-dependent conditions that determine the ability of IRS-2 expression to be regulated by hypoxia. Specifically, upregulation of IRS-2 by hypoxia is observed only in breast carcinoma cell lines that have endogenous basal expression levels of IRS-2, which occurs predominantly in highly invasive cells with a mesenchymal-like phenotype. The IRS-2 promoter is permissive for responding to hypoxia-dependent factors in these cells, but not in non-invasive, epithelial-like cell lines. One factor that we identify to be important for the hypoxic increase in IRS-2 transcription is the E-box-binding transcription factor Snail, a positive regulator of the EMT. Taken together, our data suggest that the EMT is permissive for regulation of IRS-2 expression by hypoxia.

Our observation that IRS-2 expression is increased by hypoxia only in poorly differentiated, invasive breast carcinoma cells adds to the growing evidence that IRS-2 is associated with more aggressive tumor behavior and provides a mechanistic explanation for

how expression is regulated in metastatic cells. Using a PyV-MT mouse model of tumor progression, we previously observed that mammary tumor metastasis is significantly reduced in the absence of Irs-2 expression, and increased in Irs-1<sup>-/-</sup> tumors that show enhanced levels of Irs-2 expression and function. Additionally, we now show that IRS-2 expression is enhanced in metastatic primary tumors from PyV-MT:WT mice when compared with non-metastatic primary tumors. Importantly, Irs-1 cannot compensate for the loss of Irs-2 for metastasis, and its expression is negatively regulated by hypoxia. Therefore, hypoxia can shift the IRS signaling balance in favor of IRS-2 to promote a more aggressive tumor cell phenotype. Experiments using cells derived from PyV-MT-derived tumors demonstrated that Irs-2 positively regulates survival and invasion, two important properties of metastatic tumor cells [43, 59]. The mouse studies correlate well with earlier reports showing increased IRS-2 expression and activation levels in human breast carcinoma cells after selection for metastatic behavior in vivo [157]. Specifically, IGF-1 stimulated an increase in IRS-2 phosphorylation and tumor cell migration in MDA-MB-435 and MDA-MB-231 cells that were isolated from metastatic sites when compared with their parental cell lines. Many studies have demonstrated that hypoxia stimulates tumor cell migration and invasion *in vitro* and that it selects for greater metastatic potential *in* vivo. The ability of hypoxia to selectively upregulate IRS-2 expression would provide those tumor cells that are in a permissive state a metastatic advantage by enhancing Aktmediated signaling and increasing their potential to survive and invade.

The cell context-dependent regulation of IRS-2 by hypoxia that is revealed in our current study has been demonstrated previously for HIF-dependent gene regulation. The HIF consensus binding sequence (5'-(A/G)CGTG-3') is found widely throughout the

genome but only several hundred genes have been validated to be direct HIF targets [200]. Therefore, there must be additional factors that determine if a gene will respond to HIF regulation. Comparison of ChIP-chip profiles with gene expression profiles has revealed a preferential hypoxia-dependent binding of HIF-1 to genes that were already transcriptionally active in normoxia [200]. This finding provides an explanation for why the subset of genes that are induced by hypoxia can vary significantly in different cells, since basal gene expression can also vary markedly. IRS-2 is actively transcribed and expressed in poorly-differentiated breast carcinoma cells under normal culture conditions and its expression is increased in response to hypoxia. Both HIF-1 and HIF-2 bind directly to the proximal IRS-2 promoter in hypoxic conditions and promote gene transcription. Although basal, normoxic IRS-2 expression can be detected in more well-differentiated breast carcinoma cell lines, the level of expression is significantly lower than that observed for more mesenchymal-like cells. ChIP analysis confirmed that neither HIF-1 nor HIF-2 bound to the IRS-2 promoter in hypoxia, indicating that this basal level of expression is insufficient to support hypoxic induction of HIF binding.

Although both HIF-1 and HIF-2 can bind to the proximal IRS-2 promoter and contribute to the regulation of IRS-2 gene transcription, our data support that HIF-2 is likely to play a more dominant role than HIF-1 in this regulation. This HIF-2 preference is supported by the report that IRS-2 is one the most highly expressed genes that is associated with HIF-2 activity in VHL-deficient renal cell carcinoma [202]. HIF-1 and HIF-2 bind to the same consensus HRE sequence and can regulate the expression of many common target genes. There is also evidence to support that these factors can regulate unique target genes. For example, HIF-1 is the major regulator of expression of glycolytic enzymes and HIF-2

has been shown to be a dominant regulator of EPO expression [136-138]. One explanation for the differences in activity of the two factors is the different timing of their stabilization upon exposure of cells to hypoxia. Generally, HIF-1 activity is strongly associated with gene expression at early, acute hypoxic time periods and HIF-2 activity increases in response to prolonged, chronic oxygen deprivation [139]. In breast carcinoma cells, IRS-2 expression increases at later hypoxia time-points, when HIF-2 activity is greater than that of HIF-1. HIF-1 may be able to regulate IRS-2 expression if its expression is sustained at longer time points, as observed in SUM-159 cells. However, the fact that IRS-2 mRNA expression does not increase at earlier time points in MDA-MB-231 cells, when HIF-1 peaks in expression, suggests that co-regulatory factors must be upregulated by prolonged hypoxia to induce IRS-2 expression. The specificity of HIF-1 and HIF-2 in regulating transcription of unique target genes has been shown to result from unique co-activators for each HIF. The most common co-activator of HIF is p300/Creb-binding protein (CBP). Its main function is to stabilize transcription initiation complex and to recruit histone acetyltransferase enzymes, such as the redox factor (Ref-1) [141, 142]. Several co-activators have been found to be specific for HIF-2. For example, transcription factor Ets1 has been shown to interact exclusively with HIF-2alpha in regulating VEGF receptor 2 (Flk-1) transcription [143]. Another Ets family transcription factor, Elk-1, cooperates with HIF-2 to activate expression of CITED-2 in hypoxia in MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cell line [144]. Binding sites for some of the above factors can be found in the IRS-2 promoter, including Ets, suggesting a potential role for an interaction among multiple factors in regulating hypoxic IRS-2 expression.

Tumor cells that express higher levels of IRS-2 under normal (i.e. normoxic) cell culture conditions and upregulate expression in hypoxia have mesenchymal-like morphology and are likely to have undergone an EMT [85, 198]. Snail is one of several transcription factors that are upregulated by stimuli that promote an EMT and its major function is to repress genes that promote an epithelial phenotype such as E-Cadherin. However, increasing evidence shows that in a different context, Snail can play the role of a transcriptional activator. For example, Snail positively regulates expression of Wnt-target genes through an interaction with beta-Catenin [203]. Snail has also been shown to associate with early growth response gene 1 (EGR-1) and stimulatory protein 1 (SP-1) transcription factors to positively regulate TPA-induced transcription of p15(INK4b) in HepG2 cells [204]. Therefore, the outcome of Snail function, as a repressor or an activator, depends on factors that Snail cooperates with to mediate transcription. Our data support that Snail cooperates with the HIFs, although whether this is through a direct interaction or an indirect cooperation still needs to be determined. There is previous evidence that Snail can cooperate with HIFs when bound to E-box sequences. Specifically, the Snail homolog in C. Elegans positively regulates transcription by sharing target genes with members of the basic helix-loop-helix family of transcription factors, which includes HIF-1 and HIF-2 [205]. We hypothesize that Snail binding to the IRS-2 promoter at the E-box creates a permissive chromatin environment for the binding of HIFs. Furthermore, other factors that promote EMT and recognize E-boxes, such as Slug and Twist, may also contribute to IRS-2 expression in cells in which they are expressed and functional. The inability of the Snail knockdown alone to inhibit IRS-2 expression in hypoxia could be explained by an incomplete suppression of expression, or by compensation by these other factors. Additionally, non-EMT factors that regulate IRS-2 expression through the E-box, such as the TFE family in hepatocytes, may also be permissive for the hypoxic regulation of IRS-2.

Snail activity and hypoxia have both been previously demonstrated to be associated with EMT and also with tumor metastasis. EMT occurs during both normal (in development) and pathological (in cancer) processes when normal epithelial cells or welldifferentiated tumor cells, respectively, are induced by extracellular stimuli to adopt a more migratory and invasive phenotype. This allows tumor cells to survive and spread to secondary sites in the body. Hypoxia is one such environmental stimulus that induces changes in gene expression that facilitate the transition to a mesenchymal status. The requirement for Snail in the hypoxic regulation of IRS-2 expression links these factors with aggressive tumor behavior. The fact that overexpression of Snail in MCF7 cells resulted in an increase in hypoxic IRS-2 expression suggests that IRS-2 regulation may be a part of the EMT programming of gene expression. In this regard, the IRS proteins have been implicated previously in the EMT process. Specifically, IRS-1 expression and phosphorylation is inversely correlated with the ability of TGF-beta to stimulate an EMT in A549 lung carcinoma cells [199]. IRS-1 expression and tyrosine phosphorylation is decreased in response to TGF-beta, and overexpression of IRS-1 can inhibit the TGF-betainduction of EMT both at the level of morphology and gene expression. With regard to IRS-2 and EMT, IRS-2 expression is upregulated by EGF in a JNK-dependent manner in SUM159 cells and it is required for the enhanced EMT-associated migration that occurs in response to this stimulation [85]. Consistent with the inverse roles of IRS-1 and IRS-2 in EMT, hypoxia suppresses IRS-1 expression at the same time it induces IRS-2 expression, shifting the balance of IRS signaling to favor IRS-2 and promote tumor cell invasion and metastasis [198, 206].

In summary, we have elucidated a novel context-dependent cooperative mechanism for the regulation of IRS-2 expression that involves the hypoxia-induced factors HIF-1 and HIF-2 and the EMT regulator Snail. Given its important role downstream of multiple receptors that are active in cancer cells, understanding how IRS-2 expression is regulated may lead to a more broad understanding of the role of IRS-2 in cancer and a more extensive use of IRS-2 expression as a marker for tumor progression.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Cell lines, hypoxia, and TGFbeta treatment.** MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, and T47D human breast carcinoma cells were obtained from ATCC. SUM159 human breast carcinoma cells were a gift from Dr. A. Mercurio (UMass Medical School).

For hypoxia exposure, cells were maintained at a constant gas mixture of 0.5% oxygen, 94.5% nitrogen and 5% carbon dioxide in an InVivo<sub>2</sub> Hypoxia Workstation (Ruskinn Technology Ltd) for periods of time indicated in each Figure Legend.

For TGFbeta treatment, MCF7 cells were treated with 5ng/ml TGFbeta combined with 5% charcoal-stripped serum containing media for 6 days, prior to exposure to hypoxia as above.

Generation of IRS-2 promoter serial-deletion Luciferase constructs: The human 1Kb IRS-2 promoter-luciferase expression plasmid was a gift from Dr. J. Goldstein (UT Southwestern Medical Center) [195]. The human 2.3Kb IRS-2 promoter luciferase plasmid was a gift from Dr. A. Lee (Baylor College of Medicine) [85, 173]. All other constructs were generated by serial digestion of the 1Kb IRS-2 promoter construct with SmaI restriction enzyme.

Site-directed mutagenesis. The HRE, IRE, E-box, and AP1 binding sites in IRS-2 promoter were mutated using the QuickChange<sup>®</sup> XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene), following the manufacturer's protocol. The primers used for mutagenesis were: HRE mutant, Forward, 5'-

5'-CCTGGGCCCGAGGGACGaaaGATGGTACCGTACGC-3'; and Reverse. GCGTACGGTACCATCtttCGTCCCTCGGGCCCAGG-3'; E-box mutant, Forward, 3'-GCCTGCGTAACGCCGAGTaAaAaGTTGTTTTGCTCTTCTTAG-5', and Reverse, 3'-CTAAGAAGAGCAAAACAACtTtTtACTCGGCGTTACGCAGGC-5'; AP1 mutant, Forward, 3'- CACTCGGTGCGCGATGTGTTAaaaACTGTGCGGCGG-5; and Reverse. 3'- CCGCCGCACAGTtttTAACACATCGCGCACCGAGTG-5'; primers for IRE mutation were designed according to [80] to eliminate FOXO binding: Forward, 3'-GTAACGCCGAGTCACATGTTaTTTTaCTCTTCTTAGTTCAGTCAC-5', Reverse, 3'-GTGACTGAACTAAGAAGAGtAAAAtAACATGTGACTCGGCGTTAC-5'. Double Ebox/IRE mutant was created by addition of the IRE mutation to the E-box mutant promoter using the following Forward, 3'primers: GCGTAACGCCGAGTAAAAAGTTaTTTaCTCTTCTTAGTTCAGTC-5', and Reverse, 3'- GACTGAACTAAGAAGAGtAAAAtAACTTTTTACTCGGCGTTACGC-5'.

**Luciferase assays.** Cells were plated in triplicate in 24-well plates and co-transfected with the promoter-luciferase plasmids (0.4 ug) and a pRL-CMV renilla luciferase plasmid (0.1 ug) (Promega). After an overnight incubation, duplicate plates were incubated either in hypoxia or normoxia for 24 hours. Cells were assayed for firefly and renilla luciferase activity using the Dual-Glo Luciferase Assay System (Promega). All results were normalized to pGL3 vector alone activity at normoxia or hypoxia.

**RNAi-mediated suppression of gene expression.** HIF-1alpha, HIF-2alpha, and Snai1 smart pool siRNAs (Dharmacon) were transfected using Oligofectamine reagent (Invitrogen) following manufacturer's instructions.

**Overexpression of cDNA.** Snail and HIF-2 cDNA constructs (provided by Dr. Mercurio, UMASS, and Dr. McKnight, UT Southwestern, respectively) were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Ivitrogen) following manufacturer's instructions.

**RNA extraction and real-time quantitative PCR (RQ-PCR).** mRNA was extracted from cells using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen), treated with DNaseI (Invitrogen), and converted to cDNA using SuperscriptII<sup>®</sup> Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen). Gene expression was quantified using Syber Green RT-PCR master mix reagents (Applied Biosystems). The Delta Ct method was used to quantify the relative expression of each gene. IRS expression was normalized to either murine GAPDH or human Actin. Primers used in RQ-PCR: human IRS-2 (forward: 5'-CCACCATCGTGAAAGAGTGA-3' and reverse: 5'-CAGAGTCCACAGATGTTTCCAA-3'), human Actin (forward: 5'-TGAGCGCGGCTACAGCTT-3' and reverse: 5'-TCCTTAATGTCACGCACGATTT-3').

**Immunoblotting.** All immunoblots were performed as described previously [48] using the following antibodies: IRS-2 (EMD Biosciences, Inc.); HIF-1alpha (Novus); HIF-2alpha (Santa Cruz), tubulin (Sigma); hnRNP (Santa Cruz); Snail (Cell Signaling Technology, Inc.).

**Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Cellular Fractionation:** Nuclear fractionation was performed using the NE-PER Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extraction kit (Thermo Scientific) according to manufacturer's instrutions.

Chromatin-immunoprecipitation. ChIP was performed using a previously published protocol [207]. Briefly, cells (10 million per IP) were fixed with 1 % formaldehyde in culture media for 10 min at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with the addition of 125 mM glycine for an additional 5 minutes. Cells were washed with cold PBS, scraped and collected by centrifugation at 2500 rpm for 10 minutes. Cells were lysed in lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50mM Tris-HCl, pH7.5, 5mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% Na deoxycholate, 0.5% Nonidet P-40) supplemented with complete protease inhibitors (Roche). Nuclei were collected by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 1 minute, then washed once with lysis buffer without protease inhibitors and resuspended in ChIP buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 1mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% Nonidet P-40). The nuclei were sonicated using Sonicator3000 (Msonix, Inc.) with a microtip at power level 3 for 5 pulses (for SUM-159 cells), or 8 pulses (for MDA-MB-231 and MCF7 cells) of 15 seconds followed by 30 seconds rest on ice, to reduce the chromatin fragments to an average 100 - 1000 bp. After sonication, lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 12000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4C. Soluble chromatin was pre-cleared with non-specific IgG (Santa Cruz) and Protein A-Sepharose beads. The chromatin was diluted at a 1:3 ratio with ChIP buffer and incubated with 2 or 4 ug antibody or non-specific IgG at 4°C overnight. Immune complexes were collected by incubation with Protein A-Sepharose that had been pre-incubated with BSA and ssDNA for 2 hours at 4°C. Beads were washed twice with wash buffer I (50mM Tris, 1M NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% Na deoxycholate, pH7.5), twice with wash buffer II (10mM Tris, 0.25 M NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 0.5% Nonidet P-40, 0.5% Na deoxycholate, pH7.5), and twice with TE (10mM Tris-HCl, 1mM EDTA, pH8.0). Beads were resuspended in buffer C (50mM Tris-HCl, pH7.5, 10Mm EDTA, 1% SDS) and shaken at 14000 rpm at 65°C for 10 minutes. Subsequently, TE and proteinase K (Roche) were added and incubated at 42°C for 4-8 hours. NaCl was added to a final concentration of 0.5M and the samples were de-crosslinked at 65°C overnight. DNA was extracted using the phenol-chloroform method.

The following antibodies were used for ChIP assays: PolII (Active Motif), Snail (Santa Cruz), HIF-2 (Santa Cruz), HIF-1 (Novus Biologicals), H3K4 (Millipore), IgG (Santa Cruz). The PolII antibody was used at a concentration of 2 ug per IP. All other antibodies were used at a concentration of 4 ug per IP.

IRS-2, EPO, PGK1, and E-cadherin promoters were amplified by semi-quantitative PCR and the PCR products were resolved on a 1.5% agarose gel. The following primers were used in PCR reactions: human IRS-2 promoter, forward 5'-

TGCTCTTCTTAGTTCAGTCACTCGG-3', reverse 5'-TGTTGCTGCTGCTGCTGCCGCC -3', negative control human IRS-2 intron region, forward 5'-CTAGGCTTGATGCCCACTTC-3', reverse 5'-GCTCCACCTTCAAACTGCTC-3'. The human PGK1, EPO, and Ecadherin promoters were amplified using previously published primer sequences [138, 200, 208]

**Statistics.** All data are represented as an average +/- standard error. All statistical analyses were performed using the unpaired Student's *t*-test.

# Figures



Figure 3.1. Identification and characterization of hypoxia-responsive region in the human IRS-2 promoter. A) MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with the human IRS-2 promoter-Luciferase constructs for 24 hours, followed by exposure to hypoxia (0.5% oxygen) or maintained at normoxia (regular cell culture incubator) for an additional 24 hours. The cells were lysed and relative Luciferase expression values were analyzed. The schematic on the left represents the different promoter constructs; the white box shows location of an HRE. The data shown represents at least three independent experiments +/-SEM; \*, p<0.045. B) The minimal hypoxia-responsive region of the human IRS-2 promoter (0.2) or the 1Kb IRS-2 promoter lacking this region (1 $\Delta$ 0.2) was placed upstream of the SV40 promoter in in pGL3 Luciferase construct and activity of each chimeric promoter was analyzed in normoxia and hypoxia. The data shown represents at least three independent experiments +/- SEM; \*\*, p≤0.02. C) Luciferase activity of mutant 0.6Kb human IRS-2 promoter constructs was analyzed as above. Striped rectangle shows the location of the E-box, grey rectangle - IRE, black rectangle - AP1 binding site, white rectangle - HRE, crossed rectangle - mutated site. The data shown represents at least three independent experiments +/- SEM; \*\*, p≤0.03, \*\*\*, p≤0.005. D) Luciferase activity of wild type or E-box-mutant 2.3Kb human IRS-2 promoter analyzed in normoxia or hypoxia as above. The data shown represents at least three independent experiments +/- SEM; \*\*\*, p≤0.007.



Tubulin



F.



**Figure 3.2. HIF-2 cooperates with Snail to regulate the hypoxic IRS-2 expression.** A, B) MDA-MB-231 cells were transiently transfected with indicated siRNAs 24 hours prior to exposure to 0.5% oxygen (hypoxia) or normoxia (regular cell culture incubator) for an additional 24 hours. IRS-2 mRNA levels were analyzed by real-time PCR (left). IRS-2 protein levels were analyzed by immunoblot (right). C, D) SUM159 cells were transiently transfected with the indicated siRNAs and IRS-2 mRNA (left) and protein (right) levels were analyzed as above. All IRS-2 mRNA levels were plotted as fold change relative to the corresponding normoxic value. Each graph shows results of three independent experiments +/- SEM. \*, p<0.05, \*\*, p<0.009, relative to Luciferase siRNA control hypoxia sample. E) MDA-MB-231 and SUM159 cells were plated 24 hours prior to exposure to hypoxia (H) or normoxia (N) for an additional 24 hours. Transcription factor expression was analyzed by immunoblot. F) MDA-MB-231 and SUM159 cells were plated 24 hours prior to exposure to hypoxia (H) or popoxia for the indicated times. Total protein levels were analyzed by immunoblot.



**Figure 3.3. Snail and HIF bind directly to the IRS-2 promoter in hypoxia.** A,B) HIF-2 and Snail were overexpressed in MDA-MB-231 (A) and SUM159 (B) cells for 48 hours. Cells were lysed and changes in IRS-2, HIF-2, and Snail protein levels were analyzed by Western blot. C) SUM159 cells were exposed to normoxia (N) or 0.5% oxygen (H) for 24 hours and binding of Snail to the IRS-2 promoter was analyzed by ChIP. IRS-2 intron sequence was used as a negative control, the E-cadherin promoter was used as a Snailbinding control. D) SUM159 cells were exposed to normoxia (N) or 0.5% oxygen (H) for 24 hours and binding of HIF-1 and HIF-2 to the IRS-2 promoter was analyzed by ChIP. IRS-2 intron sequence was used as a negative control, the PGK-1 promoter was used as a HIF-binding positive control.



**Figure 3.4. Hypoxic IRS-2 expression in epithelial-like breast carcinoma cell lines.** A) The indicated cell lines were exposed to normoxia (N) or 0.5% oxygen (H) for 24 hours. IRS-2 mRNA levels were analyzed by real-time PCR. B) The indicated cell lines were exposed to normoxia (N) or hypoxia (H) as above and total protein levels of HIF-1, HIF-2, and Snail were analyzed by immunoblot (top). The same cells were subjected to nuclear fractionation and nuclear levels of HIF-1, -2, and Snail protein levels were analyzed by immunoblot (bottom). C) MCF7 cells were exposed to normoxia (N) or hypoxia (H) for 24 hours and binding of the indicated transcription factors to the IRS-2 promoter was analyzed by ChIP. IRS-2 intron sequence was used as a negative control; the E-cadherin promoter was used as a Snail-binding control; the PGK-1 promoter was used as a HIF-1 binding control; the EPO promoter was used as a HIF-2 binding control.





medium for 6 days. The cells were exposed to hypoxia or maintained in normoxia for an additional 24 hours. IRS-2 mRNA levels were detected by real-time PCR. E) Binding of Snail and HIF-2 to the IRS-2 promoter in the MCF7 cells treated with TGF-beta was analyzed by ChIP. IRS-2 intron sequence was used as a negative control; the E-cadherin promoter was used as a Snail-binding control; the EPO promoter was used as a HIF-2 binding control. F) MCF7 cells treated with TGF-beta as above were used in the ChIP assay to determine changes in histone 3 methylation on lysine 4 (H3K4).



Figure 3.6. IRS-2 correlates with Snail expression in PyV-MT mouse mammary tumors. Total levels of the indicated proteins were analyzed by immunoblot in PyV-MT:WT mouse mammary tumor lysates. The graph gelow shows densitometry results. All values were normalized to loading control and plotted as expression fold change from non-metastatic tumors.

**CHAPTER IV: Discussion** 

IRS-2 is an adaptor protein for insulin and IGF-1 receptors. Its expression and function have been heavily investigated and its role in cancer has been emphasized. This study was designed to investigate the expression and function of IRS-2 in breast cancer. Since hypoxia promotes tumor cell survival, invasion, and glycolysis leading to tumor progression and enhanced metastasis and IRS-2 has been implicated in all of the above processes, we sought to investigate a possible regulation of IRS-2 expression and function by hypoxia in breast cancer. We observed a strong correlation between IRS-2 expression and hypoxia in multiple mouse and human breast cancer cell lines, while IRS-1 expression was decreased. We showed that IRS-2 was fully functional under hypoxic conditions and promoted Akt activation even in the absence of external stimuli. Increased IRS-2 expression in hypoxia also promoted cell survival and invasion in a cell type-dependent manner. We also analyzed the mechanism of IRS-2 upregulation in hypoxia and found that protein and mRNA stability were not affected by hypoxia and transcription was required for its upregulation. Detailed analysis of the human IRS-2 promoter revealed a hypoxia responsive region (from -731 to -493) in the human IRS-2 promoter. We showed that binding of Snail to this region was a necessary condition for HIF-dependent transcription of IRS-2 in hypoxia.

Our finding of differential regulation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 expression by hypoxia supports the notion that these two proteins have independent functions in breast cancer and shows that their expression is regulated by unique mechanisms. The expression of IRS-1 and -2 has been previously shown to be regulated by different mechanisms. For example, IRS-1 is an estrogen-responsive gene, while IRS-2 expression has been shown to be regulated by progesterone [81, 197, 209]. Our finding that hypoxia not only promotes IRS-

2 upregulation but also simultaneously decreases IRS-1 levels indicates that the shift to the preferential signaling through IRS-2 may be one of the crucial steps in tumor cell progression to a more aggressive phenotype and hypoxia may be one of the determining factors of this shift.

One of the mechanisms by which IRS-2 can preferentially promote tumor metastasis is by supporting tumor cell survival. Here we show that hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 promotes Akt activation, which has been previously shown to promote survival through different mechanisms [210-212]. For example, Akt can protect cells from apoptosis and promote survival by phosphorylation of the Bcl-2 pro-apoptotic protein family member BAD [213]. IRS-2 overexpression has been shown to promote resistance to glucose-induced caspase-3 activation though Akt dependent BAD phosphorylation in neuroblastoma [214]. Akt also negatively regulates the function of pro-apoptotic downstream effectors including the FOXO transcription factors [180]. IRS-2 has been shown to regulate FOXO activity through Akt in mouse embryo fibroblasts [181]. Our findings of a role for IRS-2 in Akt activation in hypoxia correlates with the previously published observation from our lab of increased Akt and mTor activation in PyV-MT:Irs1<sup>-/-</sup> mammary tumors that signal through Irs-2 [176]. A more recent study has also shown that suppression of IRS-2 expression by miRNA-153 in glioblastoma cells increases apoptosis levels [91].

The role of IRS-2 in survival under hypoxic conditions varied between cell lines. We found that SUM159 cells but not MDA-MB-231 cells depended on IRS-2 for survival in hypoxia. MDA-MB-231 survival in hypoxia was not affected by IRS-2 knockdown likely because these cells express mutated Ras, which can directly activate survival signaling pathways bypassing the need for IRS-2 [171]. On the other hand, IRS-2 knockdown decreased invasion in MDA-MB-231 but not in SUM159 cells in hypoxia. These results indicate that the IRS-2 role in cell behavior in hypoxia depends on the cell context and the pathways that cells rely on for invasion or survival.

Hypoxia is known to upregulate expression of glycolytic genes resulting in a cellular metabolic switch. IRS-2-dependent activation of Akt in hypoxia may further promote this process. Akt has been shown to promote viability and growth through regulation of genes that control the metabolic switch from oxidative phosphorylation to anaerobic glycolysis [182]. Moreover, our lab has previously shown a positive role for IRS-2 in aerobic glycolysis [159]. Therefore, sustained Akt activation downstream of IRS-2 signaling may be one mechanism by which IRS-2 promotes glycolysis under hypoxic conditions.

In the current work, we focused on understanding the mechanism of regulation of IRS-2 expression under hypoxic conditions. We identified cell context-dependent roles for HIF-1 and -2 in the regulation of hypoxic IRS-2 expression. We established that in SUM159 cells, that showed high HIF-1 levels at prolonged hypoxia, both HIF-1 and -2 could contribute to IRS-2 upregulation in hypoxia. While in MDA-MB-231 cells, that showed low HIF-1 and high HIF-2 levels at prolonged hypoxia, when IRS-2 was upregulated, only HIF-2 was required for hypoxic IRS-2 upregulation. These results suggest that the role of HIF-1 in IRS-2 expression depends on cell context, while HIF-2 is the dominant regulator of IRS-2 expression. In line with our findings, another group has identified IRS-2 as one of the main HIF-2 target genes in a microarray screen of gene expression changes after treatment of cells with a HIF-2-specific inhibitor [202]. HIF-1

and -2 are known to have both common and unique target genes. Activation of expression of unique target genes can depend on the timing of stabilization of each factor. HIF-1 has been shown to regulate expression of the early-response genes in hypoxia and HIF-2 has been shown to have higher activity at prolonged hypoxia. The finding that IRS-2 is only upregulated after prolonged hypoxia correlates with the role of HIF-2 in its expression. However, SUM159 cells show HIF-1 stabilization after prolonged hypoxia, which in part can explain a role for HIF-1 in IRS-2 expression in these cells.

Another possible explanation for a different role of each HIF in transcriptional activation of IRS-2 is potential differences in co-activating factors. Several co-activators have been found to be specific for HIF-1 and HIF-2. For example, transcription factor Ets1 has been shown to interact exclusively with HIF-2alpha in regulating VEGF receptor 2 (Flk-1) transcription [143]. Another Ets family transcription factor, Elk-1, cooperates with HIF-2alpha to activate expression of CITED-2 in hypoxia in MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cell line [144]. On the other hand, cooperation of hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 (HNF-4), a liver- and kidney-specific transcription factor, with HIF-1, is essential for EPO transcription in hepatocytes [215, 216]. Therefore, differences in total expression or activity of specific co-factors between SUM159 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines can determine the specific cell context-dependent role of HIF-1 and HIF-2 in hypoxic IRS-2 expression.

HIF-1 and HIF-2 regulate transcription by binding to the HRE element (5'-(A/G)CGTG-3') in the promoter of target genes. However, several studies suggest that HIF can also bind to a non-consensus HRE [217]. The E-box (5'-CACATG-3') in the IRS-2 promoter resembles a non-consensus HRE site. Our ChIP data indicate that HIF-2 and

HIF-1 (in SUM159 cells only) could potentially bind to the E-box element in the IRS-2 promoter. However, due to the limitations of the ChIP assay, the sonicated fragments of analyzed DNA range from 100 to 1000 bp, it is not possible to conclude that the HIFs bind directly to the E-box. They could bind to any region of the IRS-2 promoter within 1Kb from the E-box. Further investigation is required to show the binding specificity of HIF to the E-box. Luciferase assays with HIF overexpression or EMSA can be used to identify the regions of the IRS-2 promoter that are regulated by the HIF. Similarly, the IRS-2 promoter with a mutated E-box element can be used in this assay to determine if HIF binds to and regulates IRS-2 expression through this site. Two additional HRE sequences (5'-RCGTG) in the reverse direction (5'-CACGR) can be found at the 5'-end of the 2.3Kb promoter. These sites however are not present in the 1Kb, 0.6, or 0.2Kb IRS-2 promoters that are responsive to hypoxia. This suggests that HIF may possibly bind to these regions through indirect interactions mediated by other transcription factors. Alternatively, the activity of these promoters could be regulated in a HIF-independent manner. For example, AP1 is upregulated by hypoxia through increased expression of cFos and cJun and does not require HIF [145, 146]. The tumor suppressor VHL has also been implicated in regulating gene expression in hypoxia independent from HIF [147, 148]. Luciferase assays and EMSA will not be informative, however, in the case of promoter regulation by HIF mediated by chromatin changes or through interactions over long range genomic intervals. HIF has been shown to preferentially act through the long-distance binding on the promoters of target genes [221]. Binding of HIF to the IRS-2 promoter does not eliminate this possibility. Chromosome conformation capture (3C) analysis will be necessary to investigate if HIF associates with the IRS-2 promoter over long range genomic intervals.

We have identified a positive role for Snail in hypoxic regulation of IRS-2 expression. Snail is mostly known for its function as a transcriptional repressor of E-cadherin expression. However, more recent evidence has emerged that Snail can play a positive role in regulating transcription. For example, it has also been shown to positively regulate expression of Wnt-target genes through interaction with beta-Catenin and expression of p15(INK4b) by cooperating with early growth response gene 1 (EGR-1) and stimulatory protein 1 (SP-1) [203, 204]. Snail has also been shown to activate transcription of target genes in C. Elegans *in vivo* by sharing E-box elements in the promoters of the target gene with bHLH transcription factors, which includes HIF [205]. Therefore, the outcome of Snail activity, repressor or activator, depends on the transcription factors and co-factors that Snail cooperates with to mediate transcription.

We found that Snail overexpression could not induce IRS-2 transcription, indicating that Snail activity alone was not sufficient for IRS-2 expression. However constitutive binding of Snail to the IRS-2 promoter was required for HIF-dependent IRS-2 transcription in mesenchymal-like breast carcinoma cell lines. This suggests that Snail may keep the chromatin in an open conformation, therefore permitting the HIF-dependent transcription of IRS-2 in hypoxia. Consistent with this, HIF transcription factors have been previously shown to have specificity in regulating expression of genes with active promoters [200]. Snail has been previously shown to alter chromatin conformation through direct interaction with histone-modifying enzymes. In its repressive role, Snail has been shown to bind histone demethylase LSD1 and to recruit protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5) to the target E-cadherin promoter [218-220].

Our data suggest that binding of Snail to the IRS-2 promoter does not induce transcription directly, but leads to chromatin modification. We hypothesize that this leads to an open chromatin conformation that is permissive for HIF-dependent transcription. Further analysis is necessary to investigate our hypothesis. In order to show that chromatin modification is necessary for increased expression of IRS-2 in response to hypoxia MCF7 cells can be treated with histone deacetylase (HDAC) and histone methyltransferase inhibitors before exposure to hypoxia. According to our hypothesis, this treatment would lead to an open chromatin conformation that should allow increased expression of IRS-2 in MCF7 cells in hypoxia. Similarly, treatment of MDA-MB-231 cells with acetyltransferase and histone demethylase inhibitors should prevent the increase in IRS-2 expression.

Evidence of direct interaction of Snail with chromatin modifying enzymes and changes in this interaction under hypoxic conditions is also necessary. This can be done by co-immunoprecipitation and co-ChIP experiments to show not only changes in protein association but also their recruitment directly to the IRS-2 promoter *in vivo* in hypoxia. Additionally, we need to show that Snail binding leads to histone modification. Overexpression of Snail in MCF7 cells (at exogenous or endogenous levels induced by TGF-beta treatment) followed by treatment with histone-methyltransferase inhibitors should prevent the Snail-mediated increase in IRS-2 expression in hypoxia.

Apart from acting on chromatin, Snail could recruit HIF to the IRS-2 promoter in hypoxia through cooperation with hypoxia-regulated co-factors. No evidence exists for an interaction of Snail with HIF-1 or HIF-2 either directly or in a protein complex. Coimmunoprecipitation experiments are needed to answer the question whether Snail interacts with HIF. Alternatively, Snail could be responsible for mediating a long-distance regulation of IRS-2 expression by HIF in hypoxia.

An alternative explanation for our ChIP and double knock-down data is that Snail and HIF can represent two independent mechanisms of regulation of IRS-2 expression in hypoxia. Snail may bring other transcription factors to the IRS-2 promoter in hypoxia in HIF-independent manner. Moreover, Snail can possibly play an indirect role in hypoxic IRS-2 expression by regulating expression of one or more factors that directly regulate IRS-2 expression in hypoxia.

The importance of the IRE site in combination with the E-box for hypoxic upregulation of IRS-2 promoter activity suggests a possible role for FOXO. However we did not observe an increase in FOXO nuclear localization when cells were exposed to hypoxia (Appendix 1E). Moreover, since the IRE mutation alone had no effect on hypoxia responsiveness of the IRS-2 promoter, the double mutation most likely affects binding of other factors than FOXO. A wide screening of binding proteins is necessary to determine the range of transcription factors that can bind to the E-box/IRE region and how their binding is affected by the mutations. A biotin-labeled oligo with the wild-type and mutant E-box-IRE region can be used in a pull down assay with lysates from normoxic and hypoxic cells. It is also possible that the double mutation can create a site favourable for binding of a hypoxic repressor.

The finding that E-box mutation alone significantly decreases basal promoter activity in the Luciferase assays suggests that other E-box binding factors may directly regulate IRS-2 promoter activity and basal IRS-2 expression. This opens a possibility that several independent mechanisms are involved in hypoxic IRS-2 expression. If Snail does not play a role in regulation of IRS-2 expression by hypoxia, other transcription factors may be responsible for modulating IRS-2 expression.

We have previously identified an Ets-1, a specific HIF-2 co-activator, binding site in the 0.4Kb region of the human IRS-2 promoter (Appendix 1A). This region has no basal activity because it lacks the crucial E-box element, but close proximity of the Ets-binding site may increase HIF-2 specificity for the IRS-2 promoter. Therefore we tested the possible role of Ets-1 in hypoxic IRS-2 expression. Single siRNA-mediated knockdown of Ets-1, however, had no effect on hypoxic IRS-2 expression (Appendix 1B). We have not performed a double Ets-1 knockdown with HIF-2 or Snail to identify a possible cooperation of these factors. It would be interesting to test this possibility. If Ets-1 cooperation with HIF-2 is required for hypoxic IRS-2 upregulation, double knockdown of Ets-1 and Snail should have the same effect on hypoxic IRS-2 expression as HIF-2 and Snail combined knockdown. Similarly, we tested whether NFkappaB played a role in hypoxic IRS-2 expression. We identified five consecutive NFkappaB binding sites in the same region of the IRS-2 promoter, but the knockdown of the p65 subunit of NFkappaB alone had no effect on IRS-2 expression in hypoxia (Appendix 1A,D). Since the 0.2Kb IRS-2 promoter construct that lacks the 0.4Kb region with the Ets-1 and NFkappaB binding sites maintains relatively high activity in hypoxia, the 0.4Kb region is not required for IRS-2 promoter activity. However, the factors that bind to this region may enhance IRS-2 transcription. We have also identified a strong cooperative role of TFEB and HIF-2 factors in the regulation of hypoxic IRS-2 transcription (Appendix 1C). However, due to the lack of a commercially available specific TFEB antibodies, we were not able to pursue this question further. The TFEB transcription factor belongs to the Microphthalmia family of
basicHLH transcription factors. It has been shown to mediate IRS-2 expression through an E-box interaction in mouse liver cells in response to insulin signaling [79]. TFEB has never been previously implicated in hypoxic gene expression and it would be interesting to understand how its activity is regulated and how it might contribute to IRS-2 expression in hypoxia. In the future, specific TFEB andibodies can be made to investigate if TFEB directly binds to the IRS-2 promoter in breast cancer cells and if its binding changes and and affects HIF binding in hypoxia.

Specificity protein 1 (Sp1) housekeeping transcription factor has also been previously implicated in the regulation of IRS-2 expression in neuroblastoma and hepatoma cells [223, 224]. Sp1 cooperates with different factors in the same region of the IRS-2 promoter that we identified in a cell type-dependent manner. Sp1 competes with ZBP89 factor to positively regulate IRS-2 expression in response to serum starvation in neuroblastoma cells [223]. Binding of the ZBP89 factor has been shown to inhibit IRS-2 promoter activity and its binding is increased by PI3K signaling [223]. In the HepG2 hepatoma cell line, Sp1 cooperates with nuclear factor 1 (NF1) in the positive regulation of IRS-2 expression in an ERK-dependent manner in response to multiple stimuli, including oxidative stress and interleukin 1 beta (IL1B) stimulation [224]. As a known housekeeping transcription factor, and a positive regulator of IRS-2 transcription, Sp1 may play a role similar to Snail, maintaining the chromatin in an open conformation at the IRS-2 promoter to permit for efficient HIF-dependent transcription in hypoxia. Its role in hypoxic IRS-2 expression can be investigated in the future using a similar approach we used for Snail.

While the majority of this study was designed to understand the mechanism of regulation of hypoxic IRS-2 expression in human cells, we originally identified IRS-2 as a hypoxia-responsive gene in mouse cells. While the overall sequence and structure of the mouse IRS-2 promoter differs from the human promoter, the hypoxia-responsive region that we identified in the human IRS-2 promoter has a high level of homology with the mouse promoter. Moreover, the E-box element and adjacent IRE and SREBP binding sites are conserved among species, suggesting a similar role for these factors in IRS-2 expression in mouse and human cells [79]. The mouse IRS-2 promoter also contains additional consensus HRE elements that are absent from the human promoter, suggesting a more direct role of HIF in hypoxic IRS-2 expression in mouse cells. Cloning of the mouse IRS-2 promoter would be necessary to answer these questions. Correlation of IRS-2 expression with HIF-2 but not HIF-1 levels in mouse PyV-MT wild-type mammary tumors also suggests a dominant role of HIF-2 in IRS-2 expression. However, the fact that some metastatic tumors have high levels of IRS-2, but low levels of both HIF-1 and HIF-2, suggests factors other than hypoxia such as growth factors (EGF and FGF), may contribute to increased IRS-2 expression in vivo. [84, 85].

We observed that despite uniform expression of HIF-1 and HIF-2 among different breast carcinoma cell lines, only mesenchymal-like cells could upregulate IRS-2 expression in hypoxia. IRS proteins have been previously implicated in EMT. IRS-1 expression and phosphorylation has been shown to have an inverse correlation with EMT in the A549 lung cancer cell line [199]. A recent study has also shown an inverse correlation between Ecadherin and IRS-1 expression in a subset of non-small cell lung cancer that have undergone EMT [225]. Consistent with these findings, hypoxia, known to induce EMT, also results in decreased IRS-1 levels alongside with upregulation of IRS-2 expression [198, 206]. The requirement of Snail for hypoxic IRS-2 expression in breast carcinoma cell lines *in vitro* and a strong correlation between Snail and IRS-2 expression in PyV-MT tumors *in vivo*, suggest that increased IRS-2 expression in tumor cells in response to hypoxia may be part of the EMT programming. In this case, exposure of tumor cells to hypoxia and other changes in the tumor microenvironment that lead to EMT, leads to "activation" of the IRS-2 promoter via Snail, therefore increasing overall IRS-2 expression, and allowing cells to upregulate expression in response to hypoxia. This upregulation may lead to enhanced activation of the Akt signaling axis, resulting in increased survival and invasiveness of the cells under hypoxic condition. Moreover, cells with increased IRS-2 expression may be able to permanently switch to glycolysis, even under aerobic condition, once they leave the hypoxic tumor environment, therefore passing through selection for more aggressive subpopulation of cells, ultimately increasing tumor metastasis.

This work was focused on IRS-2 expression and function in breast cancer. In regards to other types of cancer, there is little information on the role of IRS-2 in tumor progression. Most studies are focused on the overall expression levels of IRS proteins that have been found to be elevated in the majority of tumors compared to normal tissue. IRS-2 has been found to be overexpressed in both murine and human hepatocellular carcinoma, as well as hepatoma cell lines [51, 56]. Irs-2 has been shown to be important for tumor invasion in PTEN<sup>+/-</sup> mouse model of prostate and endometrial tumor progression [45]. Similar to our findings, IRS-2 seems to be important for tumor progression in other cancers, but a thorough analysis of its expression and function in different backgrounds is

necessary to fully understand the role of this protein in cancer progression and the possibility to use it as a prognostic and treatment marker.

## **Conclusions:**

The role of the IRS proteins in cancer development and progression has recently gained a wide attention. In breast cancer, where these proteins have been studied the most, IRS-2 has been shown to be associated with cancer cell invasion, survival, and tumor metastasis. Our work provides strong evidence for a direct involvement of IRS-2 in tumor progression by promoting invasion and survival thorough sustained Akt signaling in hypoxia. Although the importance of overall IRS-2 expression levels in cancer has been generally accepted, there is still little known about the mechanisms of the regulation of its expression. In this work, we focused on the regulation of IRS-2 expression under hypoxic conditions and identified a mechanism that allows aggressive cell lines to induce IRS-2 expression in response to hypoxia. Since IRS-2 does not have any intrinsic kinase activity, it is more difficult to target for therapy. However, detailed understanding of the regulation of IRS-2 expression may provide a possibility to design treatment to target its expression. For example, specific HIF-2 inhibitors have been investigated as potential chemotherapy agents [202]. Moreover, its strong association with metastatic markers (such as hypoxia and EMT) makes it a potential marker for tumor progression and possible treatment outcome.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Jemal, A., Siegel R., Ward E., Hao Y., Xu J., Thun M.J., *Cancer statistics, 2009.* CA Cancer J Clin, 2009. **59**(4): p. 225-249.
- 2. White, M.F., *IRS proteins and the common path to diabetes*. Am J Physiol Endocrynol Metab, 2002. **283**: p. E413-E422.
- 3. Sachdev, D., Yee D., *The IGF system and breast cancer*. Endocr Relat Cancer 2001. **8**(3): p. 197-209.
- Shaw, L.M., Identification of Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 (IRS-1) and IRS-2 as Signaling Intermediates in the alpha6beta4 Integrin-Dependent Activation of Phosphoinositide 3-OH Kinase and Promotion of Invasion. Mol Cell Biol, 2001.
  21: p. 5082-5093.
- Yamauchi, T., Kaburaqi Y., Ueki K., Tsuji Y., Stark G.R., Kerr I.M., Tsushima T., Akanuma Y., Komuro I., Tobe K., Yazaki Y., Kadowaki T., Growth hormone and prolactin stimulate tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1, -2, and -3, their association with p85 phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase), and concomitantly PI3-kinase activation via JAK2 kinase. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(25): p. 15719-15726.
- 6. Senthil, D., Ghosh Choudhury G., Bhandari B.K., Kasinath B.S., *The type 2 vascular endothelial growth factor receptor recruits insulin receptor substrate-1 in its signaling pathway.* Biochem J., 2002. **368**(49-56).
- 7. Knowlden, J.M., Jones H.E., Barrow D., Gee J.M., Nicholson R.I., Hutcheson I.R., Insulin receptor substrate-1 involvement in epidermal growth factor receptor and insulin-like growth factor receptor signalling: implication for Gefitinib ('Iressa') response and resistance. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2008. **111**(1): p. 79-91.
- 8. Lavan, B.E., Fantin V.R., Chang E.T., Lane W.S., Keller S.R., Lienhard G.E., *A* novel 160-kDa phosphotyrosine protein in insulin-treated embryonic kidney cells is a new member of the insulin receptor substrate family. J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(34): p. 21403-21407.
- 9. Björnholm, M., He A.R., Attersand A., Lake S., Liu S.C., Lienhard G.E., Taylor S., Arner P., Zierath J.R., *Absence of functional insulin receptor substrate-3 (IRS-3) gene in humans*. Diabetologia, 2002. **45**(12): p. 1697-1702.
- White, M.F., R. Maron, and C.R. Kahn, I nsulin rapidly stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of a Mr-185,000 protein in intact cells. Nature, 1985. 318(6042): p. 183-6.
- 11. Patti, M.E., Sun X.J., Bruening J.C., Araki E., Lipes M.A., White M.F., Kahn C.R., 4PS/insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-2 is the alternative substrate of the insulin receptor in IRS-1-deficient mice. J Biol Chem, 1995. **270**(42): p. 24670-24673.
- 12. Sun, X.J., Wang L.M., Zhang Y. Yenush L., Myers M.G., Glasheen E.M., Lane W.S., Pierce J.H., White M.F., *Role of IRS-2 in insulin and cytokine signaling*. Nature, 1995. **377**: p. 173-177.

- 13. Voliovitch, H., et al., *Tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 in vivo depends upon the presence of its pleckstrin homology region.* J Biol Chem, 1995. **270**(30): p. 18083-7.
- 14. Yenush, L., et al., *The pleckstrin homology domain is the principal link between the insulin receptor and IRS-1*. J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(39): p. 24300-6.
- 15. Burks, D.J., et al., *Heterologous pleckstrin homology domains do not couple IRS-1* to the insulin receptor. J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(44): p. 27716-21.
- 16. Sawka-Verhelle, D., et al., *Insulin receptor substrate-2 binds to the insulin receptor through its phosphotyrosine-binding domain and through a newly identified domain comprising amino acids 591-786.* J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(11): p. 5980-3.
- 17. Backer, J.M., C. Wjasow, and Y. Zhang, *In vitro binding and phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 by the insulin receptor. Role of interactions mediated by the phosphotyrosine-binding domain and the pleckstrin-homology domain.* Eur J Biochem, 1997. **245**(1): p. 91-6.
- 18. Sawka-Verhelle, D., et al., *Tyr624 and Tyr628 in insulin receptor substrate-2 mediate its association*

with the insulin receptor. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(26): p. 16414-20.

- 19. Wu, J., Tseng Y.D., Xu C.F., Neubert T.A., White M.F., Hubbard S.R., *Structural and biochemical characterization of the KRLB region in insulin receptor substrate-*2. Nat Struct Mol Biol, 2008. **15**(3): p. 251-258.
- 20. Sun, X.J., et al., *Structure of the insulin receptor substrate IRS-1 defines a unique signal transduction protein.* Nature, 1991. **352**(6330): p. 73-7.
- 21. Giorgetti, S.B., R.; Kowalski-Chauvel, A.; Tartare, S.; Van Obberghen, E., *The insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I receptor substrate IRS-1 associates with and activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in vitro.* J Biol Chem, 1993. **268**: p. 7358-7364.
- 22. Lee, C.H., Li W., Nishimura R., Zhou M., Batzer A.G., Myers M.G. Jr., White M.F., Schlessinger J., Skolnik E.Y., *Nck associates with the SH2 domain-docking protein IRS-1 in insulin-stimulated cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1993. **90**(24): p. 11713-11717.
- 23. Myers, M.G.J., Grammer T.C., Wang L.M., Sun X.J., Pierce J.H., Blenis J., White M.F., *Insulin receptor substrate-1 mediates phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase and p70S6k signaling during insulin, insulin-like growth factor-1, and interleukin-4 stimulation.* J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(46): p. 28783-28789.
- 24. Beitner-Johnson, D., Blakesley V.A., Shen-Orr Z., Jimenez M., Stannard B., Wang L.M., Pierce J., LeRoith D., *The proto-oncogene product c-Crk associates with insulin receptor substrate-1 and 4PS. Modulation by insulin growth factor-I (IGF) and enhanced IGF-I signaling.* J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(16): p. 9287-9290.
- 25. Myers, M.G.J., Mendez R., Shi P., Pierce J.H., Rhoads R., White M.F., *The COOH*terminal tyrosine phosphorylation sites on IRS-1 bind SHP-2 and negatively regulate insulin signaling. J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(41): p. 26908-26914.
- 26. Karas, M., Koval A.P., Zick Y., LeRoith D., *The insulin-like growth factor I receptor-induced interaction of insulin receptor substrate-4 and Crk-II.* Endocrinology, 2001. **142**(5): p. 1835-1840.

- 27. Sun, X.J., Crimmins D.L., Myers M.G. Jr., Miralpeix M., White M.F., *Pleiotropic insulin signals are engaged by multisite phosphorylation of IRS-1*. Mol Cell Biol., 1993. **13**(12): p. 7418-7428.
- Hanke, S. and M. Mann, *The phosphotyrosine interactome of the insulin receptor family and its substrates IRS-1 and IRS-2*. Mol Cell Proteomics, 2009. 8(3): p. 519-34.
- Tamemoto, H., . Kadowaki T., Tobe K., Yagi T., Sakura H., Hayakawa T., Terauchi Y., Ueki K., Kaburagi Y., Satoh S., et al., *Insulin Resistance and Growth Retardation in Mice Lacking Insulin Receptor Substrate-1*. Nature, 1994. 372(6502): p. 128-129.
- 30. Withers, D.J., Gutierrez J.S., Towery H., Burks D.J., Ren J.M., Previs S., Zhang Y., Bernal D., Pons S., Shulman G.I., Bonner-Weir S., White M.F., *Disruption of IRS-2 causes type 2 diabetes in mice*. Nature, 1998. **391**(6670): p. 900-904.
- 31. Schubert, M., Brazil D.P., Burks D.J., Kushner J.A., Ye J., Flint C.L., Farhang-Fallah J., Dikkes P., Warot X.M., Rio C., Corfas G., White M.F., *Insulin receptor substrate-2 deficiency impairs brain growth and promotes tau phosphorylation*. J Neurosci., 2003. **23**(18): p. 7084-7092.
- 32. Burks, D.J., et al., *IRS-2 pathways integrate female reproduction and energy homeostasis*. Nature, 2000. **407**(6802): p. 377-82.
- 33. Fantin, V.R., Wang Q., Lienhard G.E., Keller S.R., *Mice lacking insulin receptor* substrate 4 exhibit mild defects in growth, reproduction, and glucose homeostasis. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2000. **278**(1): p. 127-133.
- 34. Rocha, R.H., S.G.; Jackson, J.G.; VanDenBerg, C.L.; Weng, C.; Lee, A.V.; Yee, D., *Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3 and insulin receptor substrate -1 in breast cancer: correlation with clinical parameters and disease-free survival.* Clin Cancer Res, 1997. **3**: p. 103-109.
- 35. Koda, M., Sulkowska M., Kanczuga-Koda L., Sulkowski S., *Expression of insulin receptor substrate 1 in primary breast cancer and lymph node metastases.* J Clin Pathol, 2005. **58**(6): p. 645-649.
- 36. Ravikumar, S., Perez-Liz G., Del Vale L., Soprano D.R., Soprano K.J., *Insulin receptor substrate-1 is an important mediator of ovarian cancer cell growth suppression by all-trans retinoic acid.* Cancer Res, 2007. **67**(19): p. 9266-9275.
- 37. Byron S.A., H.K.B., Richer J.K., Lange C.A., Zhang X., and Yee D., *Insulin Receptor Substrates Mediate Distinct Biological Responces to Insulin-like Growth Factor Receptor Activation in Breast Cancer Cells.* Br. J. Cancer, 2006. **95**(9): p. 1220-1228.
- Hoang, C.D., Zhang X., Scott P.D., Guillaume T.J., Maddaus M.A., Yee D., Kratzke R.A., Selective activation of insulin receptor substrate-1 and -2 in pleural mesothelioma cells: association with distinct malignant phenotypes. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(20): p. 7479-7485.
- 39. Jackson, J.G.Z., X.; Yoneda, T.; Yee, D., *Regulation of breast cancer cell motility by insulin receptor substrate-2 (IRS-2) in metastatic variants of human breast cancer cell lines.* Oncogene, 2001. **20**: p. 7318-7325.

- 40. Schnarr, B., Strunz K., Ohsam J., Benner A., Wacker J., Mayer D., *Down*regulation of insulin-like growth factor-I receptor and insulin receptor substrate-1 expression in advanced human breast cancer. Int J Cancer, 2000. **89**: p. 506-513.
- 41. Sisci, D., Morelli C., Garofalo C., Romeo F., Morabito L., Casaburi F., Middea E., Cascio S., Brunelli E., Andò S., Surmacz E., *Expression of nuclear insulin receptor substrate 1 in breast cancer.* J Clin Pathol, 2007. **60**(6): p. 633-641.
- 42. Han, C.H., Cho J.Y., Moon J.T., Kim H.J., Kim S.K., Shin D.H., Chang J., Ahn C.M., Kim S.K., Chang Y.S., *Clinical significance of insulin receptor substrate-I down-regulation in non-small cell lung cancer*. Oncol Rep, 2006. **16**(6): p. 1205-1210.
- 43. Nagle, J.A., Ma Z., Byrne M.A., White M., Shaw L.M., *Involvement of insulin receptor substrate 2 in mammary tumor metastasis*. Mol Cell Biol, 2004. **24**: p. 9723-9735.
- 44. Ma Z., G.S.L., Byrne M.A., Zhang J., White M.F., and Shaw L.M., *Suppression of Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 (IRS-1) Promotes Mammary Tumor Metastasis.* Mol and Cell. Biol., 2006. **26**(24): p. 9338-9351.
- Szabolcs, M., Keniry M., Simpson L., Reid L.J., Koujak S., Schiff A.C., Davidian G., Licata S., Gruvgerger-Saal S., Murty V.V.V.S., Nandula S., Efstratiadis A., Kushner J.A., White M.F., Parson R., *Irs2 Inactivation Suppresses Tumor Progression in Pten+/- Mice.* Am J Pathol, 2009. **174**: p. 276-286.
- 46. Ito, S., Fukusato T., Nemoto T., Sekihara H., Seyama Y., Kubota S., *Coexpression of glucose transporter 1 and matrix metalloproteinase-2 in human cancers.* J Natl Cancer Inst., 2002. **94**(14): p. 1080-1091.
- Pankratz, S.L., et al., Insulin receptor substrate-2 regulates aerobic glycolysis in mouse mammary tumor cells via glucose transporter 1. J Biol Chem, 2009. 284(4): p. 2031-7.
- 48. Nagle, J.A., et al., *Involvement of insulin receptor substrate 2 in mammary tumor metastasis*. Mol Cell Biol, 2004. **24**(22): p. 9726-35.
- 49. Boissan, M., et al., Overexpression of insulin receptor substrate-2 in human and murine hepatocellular carcinoma. Am J Pathol, 2005. **167**(3): p. 869-77.
- 50. Dearth, R.K., Cui X., Kim H.J., Kuiatse I., Lawrence N.A., Zhang X., Divisova J., Britton O.L., Mohsin S., Allred D.C., Hadsell D.L., Lee A.V., *Mammary tumorigenesis and metastasis caused by overexpression of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) or IRS-2.* Mol Cell Biol., 2006. **26**(24): p. 9302-9314.
- 51. Cantarini, M.C., de la Monte S.M., Pang M., Tong M., D'Errico A., Trevisani F., Wands J.R., *Aspartyl-asparagyl beta hydroxylase over-expression in human hepatoma is linked to activation of insulin-like growth factor and notch signaling mechanisms*. Hepatology, 2006. **44**(2): p. 446-457.
- 52. Bergmann, U., Funatomi H., Kornmann M., Beger H.G., Korc M., *Increased* expression of insulin receptor substrate-1 in human pancreatic cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1996. **220**(3): p. 886-890.
- 53. Del Valle, L., Enam S., Lassak A., Wang J.Y., Croul S., Khalili K., Reiss K., *Insulin-like growth factor I receptor activity in human medulloblastomas.* Clin Cancer Res, 2002. **8**(6): p. 1822-1830.

- 54. Hellawell, G.O., Turner G.D., Davies D.R., Poulsom R., Brewster S.F., Macaulay V.M., *Expression of the type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor is up-regulated in primary prostate cancer and commonly persists in metastatic disease*. Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(10): p. 2942-2950.
- 55. Cantarini, M.C., et al., Aspartyl-asparagyl beta hydroxylase over-expression in human hepatoma is linked to activation of insulin-like growth factor and notch signaling mechanisms. Hepatology, 2006. **44**(2): p. 446-57.
- 56. Boissan, M., Beurel E., Wendum D., Rey C., Lécluse Y., Housset C., Lacombe M.L., Desbois-Mouthon C., *Overexpression of insulin receptor substrate-2 in human and murine hepatocellular carcinoma*. Am J Pathol, 2005. **167**(3): p. 869-877.
- 57. Kornmann, M., Maruyama H., Bergmann U., Tangvoranuntakul P., Beger H.G., White M.F., Korc M., *Enhanced expression of the insulin receptor substrate-2 docking protein in human pancreatic cancer*. Cancer Res, 1998. **58**(19): p. 4250-4254.
- 58. Gual, P., Y. Le Marchand-Brustel, and J.F. Tanti, *Positive and negative regulation* of insulin signaling through IRS-1 phosphorylation. Biochimie, 2005. **87**(1): p. 99-109.
- 59. Ma, Z., Gibson S.L., Byrne M.A., Zhang J., White M.F., and Shaw L.M., Suppression of Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 (IRS-1) Promotes Mammary Tumor Metastasis. Mol and Cell. Biol., 2006. 26(24): p. 9338-9351.
- 60. Briaud, I., et al., Insulin receptor substrate-2 proteasomal degradation mediated by a mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)-induced negative feedback down-regulates protein kinase B-mediated signaling pathway in beta-cells. J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(3): p. 2282-93.
- 61. Shah, O.J., Z. Wang, and T. Hunter, *Inappropriate activation of the TSC/Rheb/mTOR/S6K cassette induces IRS1/2 depletion, insulin resistance, and cell survival deficiencies.* Curr Biol, 2004. **14**(18): p. 1650-6.
- 62. Tzatsos, A. and K.V. Kandror, *Nutrients suppress phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling via raptor-dependent mTOR-mediated insulin receptor substrate 1 phosphorylation*. Mol Cell Biol, 2006. **26**(1): p. 63-76.
- 63. Harrington, L.S., et al., *The TSC1-2 tumor suppressor controls insulin-PI3K signaling via regulation of IRS proteins.* J Cell Biol, 2004. **166**(2): p. 213-23.
- 64. Carlson, C.J., M.F. White, and C.M. Rondinone, *Mammalian target of rapamycin regulates IRS-1 serine 307 phosphorylation*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2004. 316(2): p. 533-9.
- 65. I. Briaud, L.M.D., M. K. Lingohr, J. F. McCuaig, J. C. Lawrence, C. J. Rhodes, Insulin receptor substrate-2 proteasomal degradation mediated by a mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)-induced negative feedback down-regulates protein kinase B-mediated signaling pathway in b-cells. JBC, 2005. **280**(3): p. 2282-2293.
- 66. Lee, A.V., et al., *Insulin-like growth factor I-induced degradation of insulin receptor substrate 1 is mediated by the 26S proteasome and blocked by phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase inhibition.* Mol Cell Biol, 2000. **20**(5): p. 1489-96.

- 67. Greene, M.W., et al., Modulation of insulin-stimulated degradation of human insulin receptor substrate-1 by Serine 312 phosphorylation. J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(10): p. 8199-211.
- 68. Hiratani, K., et al., *Roles of mTOR and JNK in serine phosphorylation, translocation, and degradation of IRS-1.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2005. **335**(3): p. 836-42.
- 69. Aguirre, V., et al., *Phosphorylation of Ser307 in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(2): p. 1531-7.
- 70. Delahaye, L., et al., Interaction of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase: effect of substitution of serine for alanine in potential IRS-1 serine phosphorylation sites. Endocrinology, 1998. **139**(12): p. 4911-9.
- 71. Rui, L., et al., *Regulation of insulin/insulin-like growth factor-1 signaling by proteasome-mediated degradation of insulin receptor substrate-2.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(43): p. 40362-7.
- Hirashima, Y., et al., Insulin down-regulates insulin receptor substrate-2 expression through the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway. J Endocrinol, 2003. 179(2): p. 253-66.
- 73. O'Reilly, K.E., et al., *mTOR inhibition induces upstream receptor tyrosine kinase signaling and activates Akt.* Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(3): p. 1500-8.
- 74. Araki E., H.B.L., Matsuda K., Shichiri M., Kahn C.R., *Characterization and regulation of the mouse insulin receptor substrate gene promoter*. Mol Endocrinol., 1995. **9**(10): p. 1367-1379.
- 75. Vassen L., W.W., Klein-Hitpass L., *Human insulin receptor substrate-2: gene organization and promoter characterization*. Diabetes, 1999. **48**(9): p. 1877-1880.
- 76. Hirashima Y., T.K., Kodama S., Igata M., Toyonaga T., Ueki K., Kahn C.R., Araki E., *Insulin down-regulates insulin receptor substrate-2 through the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway*. J Endocrinol, 2003. **179**(2): p. 253-266.
- 77. Zhang J., O.J., Bashmakov Y., Horton J.D., Brown M.S., Goldstein J.L., Insulin inhibits transcription of IRS-2 gene in rat liver through an insulin response element (IRE) that resembles IREs of other insulin-response genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2001. 98(7): p. 3756-3761.
- 78. Amacker-Francoys I., M.S., Niessen M., Spinas G.A., Trub T., *The metabolisable hexose D-glucose and D-mannose enhance the expression of IRS-2 but not IRS-1 in pancreatic beta-cells.* Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes, 2005. **113**(8): p. 423-429.
- 79. Nakagawa, Y., Shimano H., Yoshikawa T., Ide T., Tamura M., Furusawa M., Yamamoto T., Inoue N., Matsuzaka T., Takahashi A., Hasty A.H., Suzuki H., Sone H., Toyoshima H., Yahagi N., Yamada N., *TFE3 transcriptionally activates hepatic IRS-2, participates in insulin signaling and ameliorates diabetes.* Nat Med., 2006. 12(1): p. 107-113.
- Ide, T., Shimano H., Yahagi N., Matsuzaka T., Nakakuki M., Yamamoto T., Nakaqawa Y., Takahashi A., Suzuki H., Sone H., Toyoshima H., Fukamizu A., Yamada N., SREBPs suppress IRS-2-mediated insulin signaling in the liver. Nat Cell Biol, 2004. 6(4): p. 351-357.

- 81. Lee, A.V., Jackson J.G., Gooch J.L., Hilsenbeck S.G., Coronado-Heinsohn E., Osborne C.K., Yee D., *Enhancement of insulin-like growth factor signaling in human breast cancer: estrogen regulation of insulin receptor substrate-1 expression in vitro and in vivo.* Mol Endocrinol, 1999. **13**(5): p. 787-796.
- 82. Vassen L., W.W., Klein-Hitpass L., *Human insulin receptor substrate-2 (IRS-2) is a primary progesterone response gene*. Mol Endocrinol, 1999. **13**(3): p. 485-494.
- 83. Cui X., L.Z., Zhang P., Hopp T.A., Lee A.V., *Progesterone crosstalks with insulinlike growth factor signaling in breast cancer cells via induction of insulin receptor substrate-2.* Oncogene, 2003. **22**(44): p. 6937-6941.
- 84. Lassarre, C., Ricort, J.M., Growth factor-specific regulation of insulin receptor substrate -1 expression in MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells: effects on the insulin-like growth factor signaling pathways. Endocrinology, 2003. **144**(11): p. 4811-4819.
- 85. Cui, X., Kim H-J., Kuiatse I., Kim H., Brown P.H., and Lee A.V., *Epidermal* growth factor induces insulin receptor substrate-2 in breast cancer cells via c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase/activator protein-1 signaling to regulate cell migration. Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(10): p. 5304-5313.
- 86. Shukla V., C.X., Cao L., Wang R.H., Xiao C., Xu X., Ando S., Yakar S., Leroith D., Deng C., Absence of the full-length breast cancer-associated gene-1 leads to increased expression of insulin-like growth factor signaling axis members. Cancer Res, 2006. 66(14): p. 7151-7157.
- 87. Yan J., Y.C.T., Ozen M., Ittmann M., Tsai S.Y., Tsai M.J., Steroid receptor coactivator-3 and activator protein-1 coordinately regulate the transcription of components of the insulin-like growth factor/AKT signaling pathway. Cancer Res, 2006. 66(12): p. 11039-11046.
- 88. Kuang S.Q., L.L., Wang S., Medina D., O'Malley B.W., Xu J., *Mice lacking the amplified in breast cancer 1/steroid receptor coactivator-3 are resistant to chemical carcinogen-induced mammary tumorigenesis.* Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(17): p. 7993-8002.
- Simpson, L., Li J., Liaw D., Hennessy I., Oliner J., Christians F., Parsons R., *PTEN* expression causes feedback upregulation of insulin receptor substrate 2. Mol Cell Biol, 2001. 21(12): p. 3947-3958.
- L. Simpson, J.L., D. Liaw, I. Hennessy, J. Oliner, F. Christians, R. Parsons, *PTEN* expression causes feedback upregulation of insulin receptor substrate 2. Mol and Cell. Biol., 2001. 21(12): p. 3947-3958.
- 91. Xu, J., Liao X., Lu N., Liu W., Wong C.W., Chromatin-modifying drugs induce miRNA-153 expression to suppress Irs-2 in glioblastoma cell lines. Int J Cancer, 2011. Epub ahead of print.
- 92. Gatenby, R.A., Coia L.R., Richter M.P., Katz H., Moldofsky P.J., Engstrom P., Brown D.Q., Brookland R., Broder G.J., *Oxygen tension in human tumors: in vivo mapping using CT-guided probes.* Radiology, 1985. **156**(1): p. 211-214.
- 93. Brown, J.M., Giaccia A.J., *The unique physiology of solid tumors: opportunities (and problems) for cancer therapy.* Cancer Res, 1998. **58**: p. 1408-1416.
- 94. Wang X., M.J.L., Liu Y., and Holbrook N.J., *The Cellular Response to Oxidative Stress: Influences of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signaling Pathways on Cell Survival.*. Biochem J., 1998. **333**: p. 291-300.

- 95. Axelson, H., Fredlund E., Overberger M., Landberg G., Pahlman S., *Hypoxia-induced dedifferentiation of tumor cells a mechanism behind heterogeneity and aggressiveness of solid tumors.* Semin Cell Dev Biol., 2005. **16**(4-5): p. 554-563.
- 96. Wouters, B.G., Koritzinsky M., *Hypoxia signalling through mTOR and the unfolded protein response in cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2008. **8**(11): p. 851-864.
- 97. Bertout, J.A., Patel S.A., Simon M.C., *The impact of O2 availability on human cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2008. **8**(12): p. 967-975.
- 98. Olbryt, M., Jarzab M., Jazowiecka-Rakus J., Simek K., Szala S., Sochanik A., *Gene expression profile of B 16(F10) murine melanoma cells exposed to hypoxic conditions in vitro*. Gene Expr, 2006. **13**(3): p. 191-203.
- 99. Bos, R., van Der Hoeven J.J., can Der Wall E., van Der Groep P., can Diest P.J., Comas E.F., Joshi U., Semenza G.L., Hoekstra O.S., Lammertsma A.A., Molthoff C.F., *Biologic correlations of (18)fluorodeoxyglucose uptake in human breast cancer measured by positron emission tomography.* J Clin Oncol, 2002. **20**(2): p. 379-387.
- 100. Robin, E.D., Murphy B.J., Theodore J., *Coordinate regulation of glycolysis by hypoxia in mammanlian cells.* J Cell Physiol, 1984. **118**(3): p. 287-290.
- 101. Lu, C.-W., Lin S-C., Chen K-F., Lai Y-Y., Tsai S-J., Induction of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-3 by hypoxia-inducible factor-1 promotes metabolic switch and drug resistance. J Biol Chem, 2008. **283**(42): p. 28106-28114.
- 102. Nardinocchi, L., Puca R., Sacchi A., D'Orazi G., *Inhibition of HIF-1alpha activity* by homeodomain-interacting protein kinase-2 correlates with sensitization of chemoresistant cells to undergo apoptosis. Mol Cancer, 2009. **8**(1).
- 103. Rohde, M., Daugaard M., Jensen M.H., Helin K., Nylandsted J., Jaattela M., *Members of the heat-shock protein 70 family promote cancer cell growth by distinct mechanisms*. Genes Dev., 2005. **19**: p. 570-582.
- 104. Huang, W.-J., Xia L-M., Zhu F., Huang B., Zhou C., Zhu H-F., Wang B., Chen B., Lei P., Shen G-X., Tian D-A., *Transcriptional upregulation of HSP70-2 by HIF-1 in cancer cells in response to hypoxia*. Int J Cancer, 2009. **124**: p. 298-305.
- 105. Ouiddir, A., Planès C., Fernandes I., VanHesse A., Clerici C., *Hypoxia upregulates* activity and expression of the glucose transporter GLUT1 in alveolar epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1999. **21**(6710-718).
- Semenza, G.L., Roth P.H., Fang H.M., Wang G.L., *Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1.* J Biol Chem, 1994. 269(38): p. 23757-23763.
- 107. Brizel, D.M., Schroeder T., Scher R.L., Walenta S., Clough R.W., Dewhirst M.W., Mueller-Klieser W., *Elevated tumor lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in head-and-neck cancer*. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2001. 51(2): p. 349-353.
- 108. Huot J., H.F., Marceau F., and Landry J., Oxidative Stress-Induced Actin Reorganization Mediated by the p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase/Heat Shock Protein 27 Pathway in Vascular Endothelial Cells. Circ. Res., 1997. **80**: p. 383-392.
- 109. Rust W., K.K., Petnicki T., Padmanabhan S., Carper S.W., and Plopper G.E., *Heat Shock Protein 27 Plays Two Distinct Roles in Controlling human Breast Cancer Cell Migration on Laminin-5*. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun., 1999. **1**: p. 196-202.

- 110. Lester R.D., J.M., Campana W.M., Gonias S.L., *Erythropoietin promotes MCF-7* breast cancer cell migration by an *ERK/mitogen-activated protein kinase*dependent pathway and is primarily responsible for the increase in migration observed in hypoxia. J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(47): p. 39273-39277.
- Lyng H., R.E.K., Treatment failure following sequential thermoradiotherapy of locally advanced breast carcinoma occurs primarily in poorly vascularized tumors. Oncology, 1995. 52(6): p. 443-447.
- 112. Greijer A.E., d.J.M.C., Scheffer G.L., Shvarts A., van Diest P.J., and van der Wall E., *Hypoxia-induced acidification causes mitoxantrone resistance not mediated by drug transporters in human breast cancer cells.* Cell Oncol., 2005. **27**(1): p. 43-49.
- 113. Comerford, K.M., Wallace T.J., Karhnausen J., Louis N.A., Montalco M.C., Colgan S.P., *Hypoxia-inducible factor-1-dependent regulation of the multidrug resistance* (*MDRI*) gene. Cancer Res, 2002. **62**: p. 3387-3394.
- 114. Tse, J.C., Kalluri R., Mechanisms of metastasis: epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and contribution of tumor microenvironment. J Cell Biochem., 2007. 101(4): p. 816-829.
- 115. Yang, M.H., Wu M.Z., Chiou S.H., Chen P.M., Chang S.Y., Liu C.J., Teng S.C., Wu K.J., *Direct regulation of TWIST by HIF-1alpha promotes metastasis*. Nat Cell Biol, 2008. **10**(3): p. 295-305.
- 116. Cannito, S., Novo E., Compagnone A., Valfrè di Bonzo L., Busletta C., Zamara E., Paternostro C., Povero D., Bandino A., Bozzo F., Cravanzola C., Bravoco V., Colombatto S., Parola M., *Redox mechanisms switch on hypoxia-dependent epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer cells*. Carcinogenesis, 2008. **29**(12): p. 2267-2278.
- 117. Sahlgren, C., Gustafsson M.V., Jin S., Poellinger L., Lendahl U., Notch signaling mediates hypoxia-induced tumor cell migration and invasion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2008. 105(17): p. 6392-6397.
- 118. Luo, D., Wang J., Li J., Post M., *Mouse Snail Is a Target Gene for HIF*. Mol Cancer Res, 2011. 9(2): p. 234-245.
- 119. Mak, P., Leav I., Pursell B., Bae D., Yang X., Taglienti C.A., Gouvin L.M., Sharma V.M., Mercurio A.M., *ERbeta impedes prostate cancer EMT by destabilizing HIF-lalpha and inhibiting VEGF-mediated snail nuclear localization: implications for Gleason grading*. Cancer Cell, 2010. 17(4): p. 319-332.
- 120. Paez-Ribez, M., Allen E., Hudock J., Takeda T., Okuyama H., Vinals F., Inoue M., Bergers G., Hanahan D., Casanovas O., *Antiangiogenic therapy elicits malignant* progression of tumors to increase local invasion and distant metastasis. Cancer Cell, 2009. 15(3): p. 167-170.
- 121. Ebos, J.M., Lee C.R., Cruz-Munoz W., Bjarnason G.A., Christensen J.G., Kerbel R.S., Accelerated metastasis after short-term treatment with a potent inhibitor of tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Cell, 2009. **15**(3): p. 232-239.
- 122. Makino, Y., Cao R., Svensson K., Bertilsson G., Asman M., Tanaka H., Cao Y., Berkenstam A., Poellinger L., *Inhibitory PAS domain protein is a negative regulator of hypoxia-inducible gene expression*. Nature, 2001. **414**(6863): p. 550-554.

- 123. Pugh, C.W., O'Rourke J.F., Nagao M., Gleadle J.M., Ratcliffe P.J., Activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1; definition of regulatory domains within the alpha subunit. J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(17): p. 11205-11214.
- 124. Ivan, M., Kondo K., Yang H., Kim W., Valiando J., Ohh M., Salic A., Asara J.M., Lane W.S., Kaelin W.G. Jr., *HIFalpha targeted for VHL-mediated destruction by proline hydroxylation: implications for O2 sensing.* Science, 2001. 292(5516): p. 464-468.
- 125. Ivan, M., Haberberger T., Gervasi D.C., Michelson K.S., Günzler V., Kondo K., Yang H., Sorokina I., Conaway R.C., Conaway J.W., Kaelin W.G. Jr., *Biochemical purification and pharmacological inhibition of a mammalian prolyl hydroxylase acting on hypoxia-inducible factor*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2002. **99**(21): p. 13459-13464.
- Bruick, R.K., McKnight S.L., A conserved family of prolyl-4-hydroxylases that modify HIF. Science, 2001. 294(5545): p. 1337-1340.
- 127. Lisztwan, J., Imbert G., Wirbelauer C., Gstaiger M., Krek W., *The von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein is a component of an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase activity*. Genes Dev., 1999. **13**(14): p. 1822-1833.
- 128. Iwai, K., Yamanaka K., Kamura T., Minato N., Conaway R.C., Conaway J.W., Klausner R.D., Pause A., *Identification of the von Hippel-lindau tumor-suppressor* protein as part of an active E3 ubiquitin ligase complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1999. **96**(22): p. 12436-12441.
- 129. Cockman, M.E., Masson N., Mole D.R., Jaakkola P., Chang G.W., Clifford S.C., Maher E.R., Pugh C.W., Ratcliffe P.J., Maxwell P.H., *Hypoxia inducible factoralpha binding and ubiquitylation by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein.* J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(33): p. 25733-25741.
- 130. Tanimoto, K., Makino Y., Pereira T., Poellinger L., *Mechanism of regulation of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein.* EMBO, 2000. **19**(16): p. 4298-4309.
- 131. Semenza, G.L., Wang G.L., A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. Mol Cell Biol., 1992. **12**(12): p. 5447-5454.
- 132. Mahon, P.C., Hirota K., Semenza G.L., *FIH-1: a novel protein that interacts with HIF-1alpha and VHL to mediate repression of HIF-1 transcriptional activity*. Genes Dev., 2001. **15**(20): p. 2675-2686.
- 133. Dames, S.A., Martinez-Yamout M., De Guzman R.N., Dyson H.J., Wright P.E., *Structural basis for Hif-1 alpha /CBP recognition in the cellular hypoxic response*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2002. **99**(8): p. 5271-5276.
- 134. Isaacs, J.S., Jung Y.J., Mimnaugh E.G., Martinez A., Cuttitta F., Neckers L.M., *Hsp90 regulates a von Hippel Lindau-independent hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha-degradative pathway.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(33): p. 29936-29944.
- 135. Kong, X., Lin Z., Liang D., Fath D., Sang N., Caro J., *Histone deacetylase inhibitors induce VHL and ubiquitin-independent proteasomal degradation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha.* Mol Cell Biol, 2006. **26**(6): p. 2019-2028.

- 136. Hu, C.J., Wang L.Y., Chodosh L.A., Keith B., Simon M.C., *Differential roles of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) and HIF-2alpha in hypoxic gene regulation*. Mol Cell Biol, 2003. **23**(24): p. 9361-9374.
- 137. Chavez, J.C., Baranova O., Lin J., Pichiule P., *The transcriptional activator hypoxia inducible factor 2 (HIF-2/EPAS-1) regulates the oxygen-dependent expression of erythropoietin in cortical astrocytes.* J Neurosci., 2006. **26**(37): p. 9471-9481.
- 138. Rankin, E.B., Biju M.P., Liu Q., Unger T.L., Rha J., Johnson R.S., Simon M.C., Keith B., Haase V.H., *Hypoxia-inducible factor-2 (HIF-2) regulates hepatic erythropoietin in vivo.* J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(4): p. 1068-1077.
- Lofstedt, T., Fredlund E., Holmquist-Mengelbier L. Pietras A. Ovenberger M., Poellinger L., Pahlman S., *Hypoxia inducible factor-2alpha in cancer*. Cell Cycle, 2007. 6(8): p. 919-926.
- 140. Bracken, C.P., Fedele A.O., Linke S., Balrak W., Lisy K., Whitelaw M.L., Peet D.J., Cell-specific regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1alpha and HIF-2alpha stabilization and transactivation in a graded oxygen environment. J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(32): p. 22575-22585.
- 141. Arany, Z., Huang L.E., Eckner R., Bhattacharya S., Jiang C., Goldberg M.A., Bunn H.F., Livingston D.M., *An essential role for p300/CBP in the cellular response to hypoxia*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1996. **93**(23): p. 12969-12973.
- Ziel, K.A., Campbell C.C., Wilson G.L., Gillespie M.N., *Ref-1/Ape is critical for formation of the hypoxia-inducible transcriptional complex on the hypoxic response element of the rat pulmonary artery endothelial cell VEGF gene.* FASEB J., 2004. 18(9): p. 986-988.
- 143. Elvert, G., Kappel A., Heidenreich R., Englmeier U., Lanz S., Acker T., Rauter M., Plate K., Sieweke M., Breier G., Flamme I., *Cooperative interaction of hypoxiainducible factor-2alpha (HIF-2alpha) and Ets-1 in the transcriptional activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (Flk-1).* J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(9): p. 7520-7530.
- 144. Aprelikova, O., Wood M., Tackett S., Chandramouli G.V., Barrett J.C., *Role of ETS transcription factors in the hypoxia-inducible factor-2 target gene selection*. Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(11): p. 5641-5647.
- Webster, K.A., Discher D.J., Bishopric N.H., Induction and nuclear accumulation of fos and jun proto-oncogenes in hypoxic cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem, 1993. 268(22): p. 16852-16858.
- 146. Ausserer, W.A., Bourrat-Floeck B., Green C.J., Laderoute K.R., Sutherland R.M., *Regulation of c-jun expression during hypoxic and low-glucose stress.* Mol Cell Biol, 1994. **14**(8): p. 5032-5042.
- 147. Maina, E.N., Morris M.R., Zatyka M., Raval R.R., Banks R.E., Richards F.M., Johnson C.M., Maher E.R., *Identification of novel VHL target genes and relationship to hypoxic response pathways*. Oncogene, 2005. **24**(28): p. 4549-4558.
- 148. Zatyka, M., da Silva N.F., Clifford S.C., Morris M.R., Wiesener M.S., Eckardt K.U., Houlston R.S., Richards F.M., Latif F., Maher E.R., *Identification of cyclin D1 and other novel targets for the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor gene by expression array analysis and investigation of cyclin D1 genotype as a modifier in von Hippel-Lindau disease*. Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(13): p. 3803-3811.

- 149. Mizukami, Y., Li J., Zhang X., Zimmer M.A., Iliopoulos O., Chung D.C., *Hypoxia*inducible factor-1-independent regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by hypoxia in colon cancer. Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(5): p. 1765-1772.
- Yamashita, K., Discher D.J., Hu J., Bishopric N.H., Webster K.A., Molecular regulation of the endothelin-1 gene by hypoxia. Contributions of hypoxia-inducible factor-1, activator protein-1, GATA-2, AND p300/CBP. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(16): p. 12645-12653.
- 151. Bakker, W.J., Harris I.S., Mak T.W., *FOXO3a is activated in response to hypoxic stress and inhibits HIF-1-induced apoptosis via regulation of CITED2*. Mol Cell, 2007. **28**: p. 941-953.
- 152. Emerling, B.M., Weinberg F., Liu J.L., Mak T.W., Chandel N.S., *PTEN regulates* p300-dependent hypoxia-inducible factor 1 transcriptional activity through Forkhead transcription factor 3a (FOXO3a). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2008. **105**(7): p. 2622-2627.
- 153. Bae, M.K., Ahn M.Y., Jeong J.W., Bae M.H., Lee Y.M., Bae S.K., Park J.W., Kim K.R., Kim K.W., *Jab1 interacts directly with HIF-1alpha and regulates its stability*. J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(1): p. 9-12.
- 154. Gibson, S.L., Z. Ma, and L.M. Shaw, *Divergent roles for IRS-1 and IRS-2 in breast cancer metastasis*. Cell Cycle, 2007. **6**(6): p. 631-7.
- 155. White, M.F., *IRS proteins and the common path to diabetes*. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2002. **283**(3): p. E413-22.
- 156. Gibson, S.L., Ma Z., Shaw L.M., Divergent roles for IRS-1 and IRS-2 in breast cancer metastasis. Cell Cycle, 2007. 6(6): p. 631-637.
- 157. Jackson, J.G., Zhang X., Yoneda T., Yee D., *Regulation of breast cancer cell motility by insulin receptor substrate-2 (IRS-2) in metastatic variants of human breast cancer cell lines.* Oncogene, 2001. **20**: p. 7318-7325.
- 158. Byron, S.A., et al., *Insulin receptor substrates mediate distinct biological responses* to insulin-like growth factor receptor activation in breast cancer cells. Br J Cancer, 2006. **95**(9): p. 1220-8.
- 159. Pankratz, S.L., Tan E.Y., Fine Y., Mercurio A.M., Shaw L.M., Insulin Receptor Substrate-2 Regulates Aerobic Glycolysis in Mouse Mammary Tumor Cells via Glucose Transporter 1. J Biol Chem, 2009. **284**(4): p. 2031-2037.
- 160. Gatenby, R.A., Gillies R.J., *Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis?* Nat Rev Cancer, 2004. **4**(11): p. 891-899.
- 161. DeBerardinis, R.J., Lum J.J., Hatzivassiliou G., Thompson C.B., *The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation*. Cell Metab., 2008. **7**(1): p. 11-20.
- 162. Pouyssegur, J., F. Dayan, and N.M. Mazure, *Hypoxia signalling in cancer and approaches to enforce tumour regression*. Nature, 2006. **441**(7092): p. 437-43.
- 163. Semenza, G.L., *Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. **3**(10): p. 721-32.
- 164. Wang, X., Martindale J.L., Liu Y., and Holbrook N.J., *The Cellular Response to* Oxidative Stress: Influences of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signaling Pathways on Cell Survival. Biochem J., 1998. **333**: p. 291-300.

- 165. Liao, D., Corle C., Seaqroves T.N., Johnson R.S., *Hypoxia-inducible factor-1-alpha is a key regulator of metastasis in a transgenic model of cancer initiation and progression.* Cancer Res., 2007. **67**(2): p. 563-572.
- 166. Wouters, B.G. and M. Koritzinsky, *Hypoxia signalling through mTOR and the unfolded protein response in cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2008. **8**(11): p. 851-64.
- 167. Bertout, J.A., S.A. Patel, and M.C. Simon, *The impact of O2 availability on human cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2008. **8**(12): p. 967-75.
- 168. Kang, S.G., A.L. Brown, and J.H. Chung, Oxygen tension regulates the stability of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) through caspase-mediated cleavage. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(9): p. 6090-7.
- 169. Rui, L., Fisher T. L., Thomas J., and White M. F., *Regulation of insulin/insulin-like* growth factor-1 signaling by proteosome-mediated degradation of insulin receptor substrate-2. JBC, 2001. **276**(43): p. 40362-40367.
- 170. Kenneth, N.S., Rocha S., *Regulation of gene expression by hypoxia*. Biochem J., 2008. **414**: p. 19-29.
- 171. Toulany, M., Dittmann K., Baumann M., Rodemann H.P., *Radiosensitization of Ras-mutated human tumor cells in vitro by specific EGF receptor antagonist BIBX1382BS*. Radiother Oncol., 2005. **74**(2): p. 117-129.
- 172. Xu, X., Sarikas A., Dias-Santagata D.C., Dolios G., Lafontant P.J., Tsai S-C., Zhu W., Nakajima H., Nakajima H.O., Field L.J., Wang R., Pan Z-Q., *The CULT E3 ubiquitin ligase targets insulin receptor substrate 1 for ubiquitin-dependent degradation*. Mol Cell, 2008. **30**: p. 403-414.
- 173. Iwamoto, K., Mori H., Okazawa H., Hashiramoto M., and Kasuga M., *Identification* of a single nucleotide polymorphism showing no insulin-mediated suppression of the promoter activity in the human insulin receptor substrate 2 gene. Diabetologia, 2002. **45**(8): p. 1182-1195.
- 174. Ema, M., Taya S., Yokotani N., Sogawa K., Matsuda Y., Fujii-Kuriyama Y., A novel bHLH-PAS factor with close sequence similarity to hypoxia-inducible factor lalpha regulates the VEGF expression and is potentially involved in lung and vascular development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1997. **94**(9): p. 4273-4278.
- 175. Greijer, A.E., van der Groep P., Kemming D., Shvarts A., Semenza G.L., Meijer G.A., van de Wiel M.A., Belien J.A., van Diest P.J., van der Wall E., *Up-regulation of gene expression by hypoxia is mediated predominantly by hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1).* J Pathol, 2005. **206**(3): p. 291-304.
- 176. Ma, Z., et al., Suppression of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) promotes mammary tumor metastasis. Mol Cell Biol, 2006. **26**(24): p. 9338-51.
- 177. Axelson, H., et al., *Hypoxia-induced dedifferentiation of tumor cells--a mechanism behind heterogeneity and aggressiveness of solid tumors.* Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2005. **16**(4-5): p. 554-63.
- 178. Forsythe, J.A., Jiang B.H., Iyer N.V., Agani F., Leung S.W., Koos R.D., Semenza G.L., *Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression by hypoxia-inducible factor 1*. Mol Cell Biol, 1996. **16**(9): p. 4604-4613.
- 179. Alvarez-Tejado, M., et al., *Hypoxia induces the activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt cell survival pathway in PC12 cells: protective role in apoptosis.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(25): p. 22368-74.

- 180. Datta, S.R., Brunet A., Greenberg M.E., *Cellular survival: a play in three Akts.* Genes Dev., 1999. **13**(22): p. 2905-2927.
- Guo, S., S.L. Dunn, and M.F. White, *The reciprocal stability of FOXO1 and IRS2 creates a regulatory circuit that controls insulin signaling*. Mol Endocrinol, 2006. 20(12): p. 3389-99.
- 182. Robey, R.B. and N. Hay, *Is Akt the "Warburg kinase"?-Akt-energy metabolism interactions and oncogenesis.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2009. **19**(1): p. 25-31.
- 183. Zundel, W., Schindler C., Haas-Kogan D., Koong A., Kaper F., Chen E., Gottschalk A.R., Ryan H.E., Johnson R.S., Jefferson A.B., Stokoe D., Giaccia A.J., *Loss of PTEN facilitates HIF-1-mediated gene expression*. Genes Dev., 2000. 14(4): p. 391-396.
- 184. Mottet, D., Dumont V., Deccache Y., Demazy C., Ninane N., Raes M., Michiels C., Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-lalpha protein levels during hypoxic conditions by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/glycogen synthase kinase 3beta pathway in HepG2 cells. J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(33): p. 31277-31285.
- 185. Oda, K., Okada J., Timmerman L., Rodriguez-Viciana P., Stokoe D., Shoji K., Taketani Y., Kuramoto H., Knight Z.A., Shokat K.M., McCormick F., *PIK3CA* cooperates with other phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase pathway mutations to effect oncogenic transformation. Cancer Res, 2008. **68**(19): p. 8127-8136.
- 186. Wang, G.L., et al., Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. 92(12): p. 5510-4.
- 187. Semenza, G.L., Jiang B.H., Leung S.W., Passantino R., Concordet J.P., Maire P., Giallongo A., Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxiainducible factor 1. J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(51): p. 32529-32537.
- 188. Wang, V., Davis D.A., Haque M., Huang L.E., Yarchoan R., *Differential gene up*regulation by hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha and hypoxia-inducible factor-2 alpha in HEK293T cells. Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(8): p. 3299-3306.
- 189. Kenneth, N.S. and S. Rocha, *Regulation of gene expression by hypoxia*. Biochem J, 2008. **414**(1): p. 19-29.
- 190. Seta, K.A., Millhorn D.E., *Functional genomics approach to hypoxia signaling*. J Appl Physiol, 2004. **96**: p. 765-773.
- 191. Jhala, U.S., Canettieri G., Screaton R.A., Kulkarni R.N., Krajewski S., Reed J., Walker J., Lin X., White M., Montminy M., *cAMP promotes pancreatic beta-cell survival via CREB-mediated induction of IRS-2*. Genes Dev., 2003. 17(13): p. 1575-1580.
- 192. Beitner-Johnson, D., Millhorn D.E., *Hypoxia induces phosphorylation of the cyclic AMP response element-binding protein by a novel signaling mechanism.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**: p. 19834-19839.
- 193. Kvietikova, I., Wenger R.H., Marti H.H., Gassmann M., *The transcription factors ATF-1 and CREB-1 bind constitutively to the hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) DNA recognition site.* Nucleic Acid Res, 1995. **23**(22): p. 4542-4550.

- 194. Firth, J.D., Ebert B.L., Ratcliffe P.J., Hypoxic regulation of lactate dehydrogenase A. Interaction between hypoxia-inducible factor 1 and cAMP response elements. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(36): p. 21021-21027.
- 195. Zhang, J., Ou J., Bashmakov Y., Horton J.D., Brown M.S., Goldstein J.L., Insulin inhibits transcription of IRS-2 gene in rat liver through an insulin response element (IRE) that resembles IREs of other insulin-response genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2001. 98(7): p. 3756-3761.
- 196. Mardilovich, K., Pankratz S.L., Shaw L.M., *Expression and function of the insulin receptor substrate proteins in cancer*. Cell Commun Signal, 2009. **7**(14).
- 197. Cui, X., Lazard Z., Zhang P., Hopp T.A., Lee A.V., *Progesterone crosstalks with insulin-like growth factor signaling in breast cancer cells via induction of insulin receptor substrate-2.* Oncogene, 2003. **22**(44): p. 6937-6941.
- 198. Mardilovich, K., Shaw L.M., *Hypoxia regulates Insulin Receptor Substrate-2* expression to promote breast carcinoma cell survival and invasion. Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(23): p. 8894-8901.
- 199. Shi, J., Wang D.M., Wang C.M., Hu Y., Liu A.H., Zhang Y.L., Sun B., Song J., Insulin receptor substrate-1 suppresses transforming growth factor-beta1-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(18): p. 7180-7187.
- 200. Xia, X., Kung A.L., Preferential binding of HIF-1 to transcriptionally active loci determines cell-type specific response to hypoxia. Genome Biol, 2009. **10**(10).
- 201. Hiscox, S., Jiang W.G., Obermeier K., Taylor K., Morgan L., Burmi R., Barrow D., Nicholson R.I., *Tamoxifen resistance in MCF7 cells promotes EMT-like behaviour* and involves modulation of beta-catenin phosphorylation. Int J Cancer, 2006. 118(2): p. 290-301.
- 202. Zimmer, M., Ebert B.L., Neil C., Brenner K., Papaioannou I., Melas A., Tolliday N., Lamb J., Pantopoulos K., Golub T., Iliopoulos O., Small-molecule inhibitors of HIF-2a translation link its 5'UTR iron-responsive element to oxygen sensing. Mol Cell, 2008. 32(6): p. 838-848.
- 203. Stemmer, V., de Craene B., Berx G., Behrens J., *Snail promotes Wnt target gene expression and interacts with beta-catenin.* Oncogene, 2008. **27**(37): p. 5075-5080.
- 204. Hu, C.T., Chang T.Y., Cheng C.C., Liu C.S., Wu J.R., Li M.C., Wu W.S., Snail associates with EGR-1 and SP-1 to upregulate transcriptional activation of p15INK4b. FEBS J., 2010. 277(5): p. 1202-1218.
- 205. Reece-Hoyes, J.S., Deplancke B., Barrasa M.I., Hatzold J., Smit R.B., Arda H.E., Pope P.A., Gaudet J., Conradt B., Walhout A.J., *The C. elegans Snail homolog CES-1 can activate gene expression in vivo and share targets with bHLH transcription factors.* Nucleic Acid Res, 2009. **37**(11): p. 3689-3698.
- 206. Kang, S.G., Brown A.L., Chung J.H., Oxygen Tension Regulates the Stability of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 (IRS-1) through Caspase-mediated Cleavage. JBC, 2007. 282(9): p. 6090-6097.
- 207. Forsberg, E.C., Downs K.M., Bresnick E.H., Direct interaction of NF-E2 with hypersensitive site 2 of the beta-globin locus control region in living cells. Blood, 2000. **96**(1): p. 334-339.

- 208. Lin, Y., Wu Y., Li J., Dong C., Ye X., Chi Y.I., Evers B.M., Zhou B.P., *The SNAG* domain of Snail1 functions as a molecular hook for recruiting lysine-specific demethylase 1. EMBO J, 2010. **29**(11): p. 1803-1816.
- 209. Molloy, C.A., May F.E.B., Westley BR., Insulin receptor substrate-1 expression regualted by estrogen in the MCF-7 human breast cancer cell line. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2000. 275: p. 12565-12571.
- Kennedy, S.G., Wagner A.J., Conzen S.D., Jordán J., Bellacosa A., Tsichlis P.N., Hay N., *The PI 3-kinase/Akt signaling pathway delivers an anti-apoptotic signal*. Genes Dev., 1997. 11(6): p. 701-713.
- 211. Alvarez-Tejado, M., Naranjo-Suarez S., Jimenez C., Carrera A.C., Landazuri M.O., del Peso L., *Hypoxia induces the activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt cell survival pathway in PC12 cells.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(25): p. 22368-22374.
- 212. Chen, E.Y., Mazure N.M., Cooper J.A., Giaccia A.J., *Hypoxia activates a plateletderived growth factor receptor/phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway that results in glycogen synthase kinase-3 inactivation.* Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(6): p. 2429-2433.
- 213. Datta, S.R., Dudek H., Tao X., Masters S., Fu H., Gotoh Y., Greenberg M.E., *Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery*. Cell, 1997. **91**(2): p. 231-241.
- 214. Stöhr, O., Hahn J., Moll L., Leeser U., Freude S., Bernard C., Schilbach K., Markl A., Udelhoven M., Krone W., Schubert M., *Insulin receptor substrate-1 and -2 mediate resistance to glucose-induced caspase-3 activation in human neuroblastoma cells*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2011. **1812**(5): p. 573-580.
- 215. Zhang, W., Tsuchiya T., Yasukochi Y., *Transitional change in interaction between HIF-1 and HNF-4 in response to hypoxia.* J Hum Genet, 1999. **44**(5): p. 293-299.
- 216. Tsuchiya, T., Kominato Y., Ueda M., *Human hypoxic signal transduction through a signature motif in hepatocyte nuclear factor 4.* J Biochem, 2002. **132**(1): p. 37-44.
- 217. Percy, M.J., McMullin M.F., Lappin T.R., Sequence analysis of the 3' hypoxiaresponsive element of the human erythropoietin gene in patients with erythrocytosis. Biochem Mol Med, 1997. **62**(1): p. 132-134.
- 218. Lin, T., Ponn A., Hu X., Law B.K., Lu J., *Requirement of the histone demethylase* LSD1 in Snai1-mediated transcriptional repression during epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Oncogene, 2010. **29**(35): p. 4896-4904.
- 219. Baron, R., Binda C., Tortorici M., McCammon J.A., Mattevi A., *Molecular mimicry and ligand recognition in binding and catalysis by the histone demethylase LSD1*-*CoREST complex.* Structure, 2011. **19**(2): p. 212-220.
- 220. Hou, Z., Peng H., Ayyanathan K., Yan K.P., Langer E.M., Longmore G.D., Rauscher F.J. 3rd., *The LIM protein AJUBA recruits protein arginine methyltransferase 5 to mediate SNAIL-dependent transcriptional repression*. Mol Cell Biol, 2008. **28**(10): p. 3198-3207.
- 221. Schödel, J., Oikonomopoulos S., Ragoussis J., Pugh C.W., Ratcliffe P.J., Mole D.R., *High-resolution genome-wide mapping of HIF-binding sites by ChIP-seq.* Blood, 2011.
- 222. Zheng, B., Ohkawa S., Li H., Roberts-Wilson T.K., Price S.R., FOXO3a mediates signaling crosstalk that coordinates ubiquitin and atrogin-1/MAFbx expression

during glucocorticoid-induced skeletal muscle atrophy. FASEB J., 2010. 24(8): p. 2660-2669.

- 223. Udelhoven, M., Pasieka M., Leeser U., Krone W., Schubert M., *Neuronal insulin receptor substrate 2 (IRS2) expression is regulated by ZBP89 and SP1 binding to the IRS2 promoter.* J Endocrinol, 2010. **204**(2): p. 199-208.
- 224. Udelhoven, M., Leeser U., Freude S., Hettich M.M., Laudes M., Schnitker J., Krone W., Schubert M., *Identification of a region in the human IRS2 promoter essential for stress induced transcription depending on SP1, NFI binding and ERK activation in HepG2 cells.* J Mol Endocrinol, 2010. 44(2): p. 99-113.
- 225. Gualberto, A., Dolled-Filhart M., Gustavson M., Christiansen J., Wang Y.F., Hixon M.L., Reynolds J., McDonald S., Ang A., Rimm D.L., Langer C.J., Blakely J., Garland L., Paz-Ares L.G., Karp D.D., Lee A.V., *Molecular analysis of non-small cell lung cancer identifies subsets with different sensitivity to insulin-like growth factor I receptor inhibition*. Clin Cancer Res, 2010. **16**(18): p. 4654-4665.

## APPENDIX

## Α.





Figure 1. Analysis of the role of additional transcription factors in regulation of IRS-2 **expression in hypoxia.** A) 1Kb promoter schematic. Transcription factor binding sites are indicated as follows: striped square - E-box, grey square - IRE, black square - AP1 binding site, white square – HRE, vertical rectangle – NfkappaB binding site, horizontal rectangle - Ets-1 binding site. B) MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with Ets-1 or Luciferase (Luc) siRNA and exposed to hypoxia (H) or normoxia (N) for 24 hours. Total mRNA was extracted and IRS-2 mRNA levels were analyzed by real-time PCR (left). IRS-2, Ets-1, and tubulin were analyzed by immunoblot (right). C) MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with the indicated siRNA (Luc = Luciferase) and exposed to normoxia or hypoxia for 24 hours. Total mRNA was extracted and changes in IRS-2 (left) and TFEB (right) mRNA levels were analyzed by real-time PCR. D) MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with p65 NFkappaB subunit or Luciferase (Luc) siRNA and exposed to hypoxia (H) or normoxia (N) for 24 hours. IRS-2, p65, and tubulin were analyzed by immunoblot. E) MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated in normoxia (N) or hypoxia (H) for 24 hours. IRS-2, FOXO1, FOXO3a, tubulin, and hnRNP protein levels in nuclear and cytosolic fractions, and total cell lysate were analyzed by Western blot.